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# key fiGureS

figures in NOk 1000 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues  1 081 042   994 638   860 521 
Operating profit (loss)  (18 133)  52 091   65 666 
Profit (loss) before tax  (7 284)  53 984   65 885 
Profit (loss) for the year  (4 115)  37 124   45 558 

Net operating margin (%) -1,7 % 5,2 % 7,6 %
Net profit margin (%) -0,4 % 3,7 % 5,3 %
Profit ratio (%) -0,1 % 6,2 % 8,2 %
Total assets  445 911   458 605   407 238 
Investments  58 819   63 850   26 408 

Equity ratio (%) 23,7 % 22,4 % 24,3 %
Return on total assets (%) -0,3 % 14,1 % 18,7 %
Liquidity ratio 0,8 0,9 1,0

EmployEEs   
Average number 619 557 490
Man-years 596 543 466

DaGeNS NæriNGSliv * 

Operating revenues  594 174   581 590   508 136 
Operating profit (loss)  45 366   82 441   83 224 
Profit (loss) before tax  53 873   88 600   86 846 
Profit (loss)    38 542   63 199   61 940

Net operating margin (%) 7,6 % 14,2 % 16,4 %

GlObal *     

Operating revenues  276 994   221 508   189 290 
Operating profit (loss)  (7 870)  8 768   2 853 
Profit (loss) before tax  (2 493)  4 750   1 085 
Profit (loss)    (4 904)  2 294   (516)

Net operating margin (%) -2,8 % 4,0 % 1,5 %

DiGiTal & NOrDic *     

Operating revenues  117 080   99 108   75 817 
Operating profit (loss)  (24 616)  (7 022)  (1 095)
Profit (loss) before tax  (23 919)  (6 313)  (312)
Profit (loss)    (17 958)  (4 621)  (202)

Net operating margin (%) -21,0 % -7,1 % -1,4 %

NauTical cHarTS *    

Operating revenues  99 992   99 813   91 192 
Operating profit (loss)  (498)  3 104   5 527 
Profit (loss) before tax  979   3 205   4 762 
Profit (loss)    709   2 284   3 409 

Net operating margin (%) -0,5 % 3,1 % 6,1 %

* The segment information is gross figures without eliminations   

:: HiGHliGHTS 2008

Past the billion mark
NHST Media Group increased 
its revenues by 9% to reach 
MNOK 1,081 in 2008. Dagens 
Næringsliv increased circulation 
to 82,775, as the only large 
newspaper in Norway. DN.no  
increased traffic by 35%. The 
Group’s global publications also 
set new records in circulation 
and net traffic.

Global crisis hits home 
The credit crisis hit advertising 
market in the latter part of 
the year and necessitated 
cost reductions, also in the 
form of downsizing in Dagens 
Næringsliv and other parts of 
the group.

Renewable initiative
The Group established the  
first global news organisation 
within renewable energy and 
Recharge was launched in  
January 2009. 

Business information 
exchange
NHST strengthened its  
position as a facilitator  
of the exchange of news  
another content direct  
from businesses, through 
the  purchase of a majority 
share in Newsdesk.
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   Sign of  
              the times

The choice of design in this annual report is  
not arbitrary. Orange is the colour in the centre  
of our logo and the  semi colon communicates  
a small pause, but far from a full stop. For us
this means that we need to take a breather and 
at the same time remain focused on the core of 
our business during more challenging times.
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DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV

GROUP OVERVIEW

DIGITAL & NORDIC GLOBAL 

117 mill

18 %

DN Nye Medier
TDN
Smartcom
Europower
Newsdesk 

594 mill

Dagens Næringsliv

REVENUES 2008

      2 %

BUSINESS AREA

GROWTH 2008

COMPANIES

277 mill

25 %

TradeWinds
Upstream
Intrafish
Recharge
NHST Events  
NHST Monde

100 mill

0 %

Nautisk Forlag

NAUTICAL CHARTS

Exclusive;  ”In journalism, exclusive can refer  

to information provided to or available from only one news outlet”  

(Wikipedia)

Exclusive content for defined segments. 
That has been the formula for NHST 
 Media Group’s development. It is a 
 formula that has made the Group the 
market leader in Norwegian business 
news and the international market leader 
in news for a range of global industry 
segments. It is a formula that has made 
possible combining the development of 
competitive online services with continued 
strong growth for the newspapers.  
It is a formula that made it possible to  
establish a new standard for Norwegian 
lifestyle journalism through D2. It is a 

 formula based on conviction that depth 
is just as important as breadth. 

This approach has prepared the Group 
for handling the turbulence that the 
world economy and the media industry 
are  currently going through, even if it is 
de manding. Whilst the economy is gyrating 
and business models are changing the 
formula for news products valued by the 
customers remains the same: Continued 
focus on quality and integrity in defined 
segments that we cover better than any-
one else.

Whilst the leading business newspaper  
in Norway – Dagens Næringsliv – was  
the origin of NHST Media Group and 
 continues to be the largest business,  
the Group has grown into four business  
areas:
•  Dagens Næringsliv has – contrary to 

 other large newspapers in Norway and 
internationally – continued to experience 
strong circulation and readership 
growth. The clear focus on business 
news has been maintained, whilst e.g. 
the development of the lifestyle supplement 
D2 provides in-depth coverage of new areas 
of interest to the readers.

•  Digital & Nordic encompasses the Group’s 
services within digital distribution  
in the Nordic region and its largest 
 product is DN.no, the leading financial 
online news portal in Norway.

•  Global encompasses the world’s leading 
newspapers and online news services 
within four segments: Shipping, Oil & 
Gas, Seafood and – recently launched  
– Renewable Energy. 

•  Nautical charts maintains the Group’s 
traditions as a maritime chart business. 
The leading market position in Norway 
has served as basis for building one of 
the leading nautical chart businesses  
internationally.
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NHST Media Group’s products have a common denominator:  
Exclusive content. They offer something more than what is found elsewhere  
– whether printed on paper or distributed online.
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Nautisk Forlag
international portfolio of  
nautical charts and maritime 
publications

Dagens Næringsliv
Norway’s largest business 
news paper with a circulation  
of 82,775 in 2008 (daily)

D2
Published every Friday with  
Dagens Næringsliv, D2 offers 
Norway’s freshest perspec
tives on lifestyle and cultural 
topics
 

NhST Events
Global conference activities  
in the shipping sector

Tradewinds
The world’s leading shipping  
newspaper (weekly)

Upstream
The world’s leading oil&gas  
newspaper (weekly)

Recharge
The global renewable energy  
newspaper (weekly)

The world’s leading seafood  
news titles from intraFish:
Seafood International
(monthly)
Fishing News International
 (monthly)
Fish Farming International
 (monthly)
Seafood processor
 (quarterly)
Fishing News Weekly
 (weekly  UK)
FiskeribladetFiskaren
 (bidaily  Norway)

tradewinds.no
Global shipping news portal

upstreamonline.com
Global oil&gas news portal

LNG Unlimited
News across the LNG value  
chain (weekly)

rechargenews.com
Global renewable energy news  
portal

intrafish.com
Global seafood news portal

intrafish.no
Norwegian seafood  
news portal

fiskeribladetfiskaren.no
Online version of the leading  
Norwegian fisheries news
paper  

Neptune
Vessel information  
service for onboard use

Intstream
Software platform for power 
traders and analysts

Energi
Magazine for the Nordic  
power market (monthly)

Europower
Newspaper for the Nordic  
power market (monthly)

DN.no
The leading online business  
news portal in Norway

TDN finans
The leading provider of  
professional financial news  
in Norway

Newsdesk
Leading online distributor  
of content from businesses 
(Stockholm)

Smartcom
Leading Nordic online TV  
producer and broadcaster

dagensit.no 
Leading Norwegian iT news  
service

europower.com
Leading Nordic power market 
news service

DAGENS NÆRINGSLIV GLOBALDIGITAL & NORDIC NAUTICAL ChARTS

PRODUCT PORTFOLiO
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The fourth quarter of 2007 was the 16th 
quarter in a row with revenue growth  
above 10%. All large publications were 
 market leaders in their respective segments 
and this trend had intensified over several 
years.  Profitability had  improved for most 
of the publications. A number of strategic 
measures were implemented and several 
new initiatives were in the pipeline – such 
as Recharge.

During the first quarter things slipped a 
bit, but not much. Advertising revenues 
weakened slightly in Dagens Næringsliv 
(DN). For the other publications there was 
solid, double- digit growth. This develop-
ment - slightly weaker than expected – 
 continued through the second quarter. 

The group therefore began to draw up a 
plan B, to be implemented in case that the 
economic situation worsened. At the same 
time, NHST decided to launch  Recharge,  
a publication  targeted at the market for 
 renew able energy. The third quarter pro-
ceeded satisfactorily until mid-September. 

On 28 September job classified ads in  
DN fell by over 50 per cent. This trend 
 continued through October and became 
gradually more noticeable for the other 
 activities in the group as well. The  revenue 
decline was significant and it was neces-
sary to take serious remedial action.
Plan B, or the masterplan, as we call it,  
was implemented from 10 October. The  

main features of the masterplan are:,
1)  The group’s established main strategies 

remain firm: 
- business news leader in Norway 
-  world leader in news for the shipping,  
oil and gas, renewable energy and  
seafood  industries

 -  develop a global nautical chart business 
 -  meet the information needs in those   

segments where the group operates 
through adjacent activities such as 
conferences, web-tv and new, relevant 
digital services 

2)  Reduce cost to handle the financial crisis 
and the weak advertising markets by: 
-  scaling down/ phasing out of projects  
with low profitability

 - scaling down all variable costs
 -  scaling down fixed cost through  

staff  reductions
 -  prioritisation of editorial and  

commercial priorities
 -  better use of technology and existing 

 networks

3) Market positions will be maintained 
  through:
 -  mobilisation of the organisation with   

a view to improving productivity and 
 competitiveness

 -  strengthen market leading positions  
in the downturn by taking advantage 
of  competitiveness relative to smaller 
competitions

Adapting to 
a new reality

NHST Media Group entered 2008 at high speed. Our 
newspapers and magazines enjoyed good circulation 
growth and the websites high traffic growth. But come 
the end of September the financial crisis and the 
 decline in revenue made it necessary to reduce costs  
at all levels in the organisation.

2008 // ceo's report
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* The innovative “X-bow” from Ulstein Design brought it to the top of DN’s fastest growing company award (Gaselle) in Norway in 2007 and in its county in 2008.

The plan is based on the assumption that  
the initial «hurricane» period in the Norwe-
gian and global economy will be followed 
by a «monsoon period» until new growth 
in the world economy and advertising 
markets can be expected from 2011.

In the period from the beginning of  
September last year until the end of  
February this year, NHST went through  
an extensive and  demanding restructuring:
•  Nearly 60 people have quit through  

various downsizing mechanisms
•  The scopes of a number of projects  

have been reduced 
•  Merger synergies in Intrafish Group  

have been acted on
•  Smartcom Sverige has been closed down
•  DNtv and DN Search have been 

slimmed down and merged with DN.no  
•  A range of temporary measures to  

reduce  salary cost
•  Significant cuts in many types of variable cost  
In sum, during this period the group has 
 implemented profit-generating, cost- 
reduction measures to a value of around 
NOK 80 million in annual savings. Some 
measures still remain, whilst many smaller 
improvements remain that in sum will 
lead to further results.

This year the market will encounter an NHST 
that is characterised by high quality both  
editorially and in the various commer-
cial  activities, including service level. The 
majority of the group’s earnings come from 
subscribers who have a long-term custom-
er relationship with the publications and 
this relationship of trust must be con-
tinued and reinforced. This also applies 
to the relationship with  advertisers. Our 
publications must be attractive channels 
for their target groups.   

After a period of strong growth the  
NHST  Media Group will focus more  
on improved profitability within the  
 established business areas in the coming 
years. The group has  attained strong 
market positions and an  efficient size. 

After the first quarter of 2009, we will 
achieve the full effect of the cost measures 
 implemented in Dagens Næringsliv, but the 
advertising markets are expected to remain 
weak throughout the masterplan period.  

For the Digital & Nordic business area, 
an  improvement in sales and profits is 
currently  expected due to demand and 
the competitive landscape. We see a  
similar development for the business  
areas Global and Nautical Charts. 

During this difficult period, the entire 
 organisation in Oslo, about 400 people,  
will relocated in April to new offices by 
the Aker river. In demanding times also  
for the employees the move can hopefully 
serve as inspiration to deliver even better 
products to our customers. 

NHST Media Group is a modern and future 
 oriented media group with Norwegian  
maritime roots and we will maintain a  
steady course in the current rough waters.  
It is therefore fitting that the below illustration  
– representing NHST’s development – is 
 inspired by the most innovative in Norwe-
gian ship design.* 
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Board of Director's 
                     Report 2008

Revenues for the NHST Media Group 
(hereafter entitled Group)  increased 
from NOK 995 million in 2007 to NOK 
1081 million in 2008. The pre-tax result 
for 2008 was a loss of NOK 7.3 million 
compared to a profit of NOK 54.0 million 
in 2007. 

Revenue growth of NOK 86 million (9%) 
was due to organic growth and acquisitions 
in IntraFish and Newsdesk. During the 
year the Group consolidated its market 
positions in all the main markets in 
which it operates.

GENERAL 
The result for 2008 was severely affected 
by the economic situation, particularly  
in the second half of the year. When the 
financial crisis hit Norway in full on  
28 September, it had an immediate,  
significant effect on advertising sales  
in Dagens Næringsliv, the Group’s largest 
company. For example the job classifieds 
market fell by around 50% in a few days. 
The weak advertising market continued 
through to the end of the year. For the rest 
of the Group's publications, the initial 
 effect was less dramatic, but economic 
prospects are now more uncertain  
for all.

As a consequence of this, extensive  
measures were initiated to improve  
profitability in the Group in the 4th 
 quarter of 2008, in order to counteract 
the bottom-line effect of the significant 
decline in revenues. The measures, 
which have now been implemented, 
have a gross annual effect of over NOK 
80  million in 2009 and include signifi-
cant staff reductions and down scaling/ 
phasing out of development  activities.  
Restructuring and one-off costs of NOK 25 

million have been included in the  accounts 
for 2008.

The process associated with staff reductions 
as a consequence of the considerable decline 
in revenues has been demanding. The 
 necessary cost adjustments have   taken 
place in close cooperation with the 
 employees.

Despite a demanding economic climate, 
2008 also demonstrated the strong  
positions the Group’s publications hold 
amongst their readers. There was a  
clear increase in readers’ interest in  
the Group’s publications, reinforced by  
a news agenda dominated by economics 
and business topics. This resulted in 
 circulation growth and higher market 
shares for all the major publications.  
At the end of the year traffic to the 
Group’s online news services grew by 
 between 20 and 30%. 

During the year, the Group initiated new 
strategic initiatives to enhance the basis 
for long-term growth. The Group decided 
to establish itself as a leading news sup-
plier to the global market for renewable 
energy. Recharge was set up in the 4th 
quarter and launched in January 2009. 
With the acquisition of Newsdesk, the 
Group positioned itself for further long-
term growth in the digital distribution  
of business content. In addition, a number 
of important development  activities took 
place within the existing businesses.

While there is great uncertainty as to how 
the Group will be affected by economic 
 developments in the short term, the strong 
market positions, in particular in terms of 
readers and circulation revenues, provide  
a good basis for long-term development.

Although the Norwegian economy was 
not seriously weakened by the down-
turn in the international economy until 
the last few months of the year, there 
was a strong focus on economic condi-
tions in the Norwegian news agenda 
throughout the year. Dagens Næringsliv 
and DN.no played a leading role in this 
coverage. Both on paper and on the net, 
the Group consolidated its position as 
the leading supplier of business news  
in Norway. 

For the third year in a row, Dagens 
Næringsliv was the circulation winner 
amongst the major Norwegian news-
papers. Circulation increased by 1384  
to 82,775 and there was an increase in 
the average number of readers per day  
of 4.4% to 305,000. At the same time, 
DN.no experienced high readership 
growth and is the business site in 
 Norway with the highest revenues. 

Within the three global market segments 
in which NHST maintains a leading posi-
tion as a news supplier (oil/gas, shipping 
and seafood), a large part of the year was, 
in fact, characterised by continued historic, 
strong growth. The economic downturn 
reached these sectors in the autumn but 
the impact varied. In the seafood  sector, 
it appears so far that only niches are 
 affected and, although considerable 
 re assessments are taking place within 
the oil & gas sector, activity is still at a 
historically high level. In shipping, the 
turn  of the business cycle has already 
had serious consequences to sector  
activity and more is expected.

The market positions in the global seg-
ments are stronger than ever. IntraFish 
has implemented an extensive integra-
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tion with the operations acquired from 
Informa last year, doubled its size and 
consolidated its position as the largest 
supplier of seafood news in the world. 
Upstream and TradeWinds have also 
continued to take market shares and  
increased their lead on their competitors 
both on paper and online. 

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS  
DEVELOPMENT
In the face of a demanding economic 
 climate, the strategy to develop the 
Group’s position in Norway and world-
wide stands firm. NHST Media Group 
will continue to:
-  Be the business news leader in Norway
-  Be the world leader in news for the 
shipping, oil and gas, renewable energy 
and seafood industries

-  Develop a global nautical chart business 
-  Meet the information needs in those 
markets where the Group operates 
through adjacent activities such as 
 conferences, web-tv and new, relevant 
digital services

Although the economic situation may,  
in the short term, have consequences for 
the speed and method of implementation, 
the Group will continue in 2009 to develop 
its operations in accordance with its 
strategy. NHST Media Group has very 
strong market positions, very skilled 
 employees and a unique Norwegian and 
global network and should therefore be 
able to achieve good long-term profit-
ability within its areas of operation. 

The Norwegian business has demonstrat-
ed, via innovative, quality-driven devel-
opment, that the potential for business 
news in Norway is much greater than 
previously assumed. The company’s 

strategy in Norway is to continue to 
 expand the business both by developing 
the product range to the existing public 
and by capturing the interest of an even 
wider public. 

Within the international segments, 
NHST Media Group has demonstrated 
considerable long-term growth potential 
which the company will continue to 
 develop in the years to come. The Group’s 
success in global business niches was 
also the motivation behind the establish-
ment of Recharge. Renewable energy 
will be one of the major growth indus-
tries in the years to come and the Group 
already possessed considerable professional 
expertise within this sector. In addition to 
the potential to grow as a global news pro-
vider, there is also room to develop regional 
markets within the industry segments. 

The Group’s nautical chart activities in 
Nautisk Forlag will focus on further inter-
national expansion of operations and 
 developing the company into a leader in 
electronic distribution, while at the same 
time focusing on improving profitability 
in the existing chart operations. 

The Group’s considerable international 
expansion in recent years has resulted  
in it now having employees in 32 offices, 
with the largest outside Norway being  
in London, Singapore and Houston. The 
Group’s companies are managed within 
four business areas and the Group has 
established an international infrastruc-
ture for IT and financial management. 

In all parts of the Group, there is contin-
uous development of the editorial prod-
ucts in terms of both content and presen-
tation. Particularly within the digital 

activities it is evident that business-
models are subject to constant change 
and the Group therefore considers it  
important to have a flexible, future- 
oriented strategy in this area. The acqui-
sition of Newsdesk supplements the 
Group’s  traditional editorial strength 
with the ability to play a major role in 
the distribution of content directly from 
the businesses online.

Both in Norway and in the international 
companies, the Group aims to exploit 
synergies across company borders and 
this may be of increasing importance in 
the current economic situation. This 
 applies both to infrastructure, where the 
companies have profited from co-locating 
activities, and to cooperation within edi-
torial and sales activities. For example, 
the establishment of Recharge made 
 extensive use of Upstream’s infrastruc-
ture and expertise. The co-location of all 
the Group’s activities in Oslo from April 
2009 should further contribute to such 
effects across the Group.

The company's business development in 
2008 reflected both a focus on improving 
profitability in the face of more demand-
ing economic times and a continued will 
to invest in long-term growth. Important 
points included:
•  Dagens Næringsliv’s Friday supplement 
D2 established a competitive profile in 
its first full year of operation and made 
a positive contribution to advertising 
and circulation growth

•  TradeWinds and Upstream implemented 
considerable updates and expansion of 
their online activities, which will continue 
in the time to come.

 •  IntraFish integrated the operations 
 acquired from the Informa Group in 

"Despite a demanding economic climate, 2008 also  
demonstrated the strong positions the Group’s publications 
hold amongst their readers"
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London and implemented the merger 
of FiskeribladetFiskaren. The company 
now has a uniform structure and has 
 renewed and rationalised the product 
portfolio, while a joint sales organisa-
tion has been established

•  Recharge established
•  To attract an even wider and more loyal 

public, DN.no invested in the develop-
ment of an online version of D2 and the 
further development of other specialty 
sections within IT, energy, finance and 
wine

•  For SmartCom, the newly established 
London office experienced an exciting 
start with customers such as Oracle and 
the Financial Times 

•  Europower implemented measures to 
improve profitability with effect from 
the 4th quarter

•  Newsdesk continued its rapid rate of 
growth in its range of Swedish services, 
while the foundations were laid for an 
international platform

•  Activities in search and web-tv were 
 reduced and integrated in DN Nye Medier

•  Nautisk Forlag launched Neptune, an 
electronic administration system for 
commercial shipping, and now has  
160 active users

All of these initiatives should in our 
judgement have a positive effect on the 
Group’s long-term growth and profitability.

RESULTS PER BUSINESS AREA
The business area Dagens Næringsliv 
(DN) is NHST’s largest operation and 
 accounted for 55% of Group revenues  
in 2008. DN has a unique position as 
Norway’s leading business newspaper. 
For the third year in a row, it was the 
 major newspaper in Norway with the 
highest circulation growth. Although  

the company’s revenues were dramatically 
affected by the decline in advertising in 
the fourth quarter, revenues for the year 
as a whole increased to NOK 594.2 mil-
lion against NOK 581.6 million in 2007,  
a growth of 2%. 

Operating profits were NOK 45.4 million, 
compared to NOK 82.4 million in the 
previous year. The result is after restruc-
turing costs of NOK 15 million in the 
fourth quarter.

On account of the economic situation, 
which particularly affects the advertising 
markets, there is considerable uncertainty 
attached to the financial growth prospects 
for DN in 2009. In terms of market posi-
tion, Dagens Næringsliv is expected to be 
able to consolidate its position further. 

The business area Digital & Nordic com-
prises the Group’s digital activities in the 
Nordic region. Revenues increased by 
18% during the year from NOK 99.1 
 million to NOK 117.1 million. Revenue 
growth was driven by good organic 
growth in most of the area’s activities, 
in addition to the effect of the acquisi-
tion of Newsdesk in the last few months 
of the year. 

The area had an operating loss of NOK 
24.6 million against an operating loss  
of NOK 7.0 million in the previous year, 
 influenced by the development activities 
in web-TV and search and losses in 
Smartcom and Europower. In relation  
to all of these activities restructuring  
has now been implemented in order 
to improve profitability.

Within this business area, the results  
per company were as follows:

DN Nye Medier, publisher of DN.no, in-
creased its revenues by 9% to NOK 50.0 
million. Its operating profits were NOK 
0.5 million against NOK 3.0 million in 
2007. DN.no had strong growth in traffic 
and the fall in profits was due to cost 
 associated with accelerated development 
and increased editorial initiatives in the 
first six months, plus restructuring costs. 
DNtv and DN Søk were wound up as sep-
arate companies and are part of DN Nye 
Medier as from the first quarter of 2009.

TDN increased revenues by 10% to NOK 
14.4 million, while its operating profit 
was NOK 3.5 million against NOK 3.0 
million last year. TDN is capturing 
 market share.

Europower increased revenues by 29% 
to NOK 22.6 million and had an operat-
ing loss of NOK 4.6 million against an 
operating loss of NOK 3.0 million last 
year. Measures to improve profitability 
took effect in the latter part of the year.

Smartcom’s revenues fell by 4% to NOK 
20.2 million and the company had an 
 operating loss of NOK 4.2 million against 
profits of NOK 2.0 million last year. The 
result reflects increased competition and  
a considerable reorganisation was imple-
mented in the last quarter to improve 
 future results. Smartcom International 
had revenues of NOK 1.0 million and  
an operating loss of NOK 9.1 million, 
 primarily related to the winding down  
of Smartcom in Sweden.

The business area Global comprises the 
Group’s global publications and confer-
ence activities in the oil/gas, shipping, 
seafood and renewable energy segments. 
In the first three areas, the Group is the 

2008 // board of director's report

"The company's business development in 2008 reflected  
both a focus on improving profitability in the face of more 
demanding economic times and a continued will to invest  
in long-term growth"
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global news market leader (measured  
in paid circulation), while the renewable 
 energy initiative, Recharge, was devel-
oped in 2008 and launched in January 
2009. Business area revenues increased 
by 25% during the year from NOK 221.5 
million to NOK 277.0 million. The strong 
growth was driven by good organic 
growth and the effect of the IntraFish 
 acquisition at the end of 2007. All publi-
cations consolidated their market posi-
tions and set new circulation records.

The area had an operating loss of  
NOK 7.9 million against profits of  
NOK 8.8 million in 2007. The result 
was strongly affected by integration 
costs in IntraFish and startup costs 
 associated with Recharge (MNOK 4.9).

Within this area, the results per company 
were as follows:

TradeWinds increased its revenues  
by 5% to NOK 82.0 million, while its 
operating profit was NOK 9.9 million 
against NOK 5.3 million in 2007. This 
was the best result ever for TradeWinds.

Upstream increased its revenues by 8% 
to NOK 82.2 million, while its operating 
profits were NOK 6.3 million against 
NOK 7.0 million in 2007.

IntraFish Media increased its revenues 
by 90% to NOK 101.3 million and had 
an operating loss of NOK 16.0 million 
against an operating loss of NOK 1.5 
 million last year. Both the growth in 
 revenues and the result were strongly 
 affected by the acquisition from Informa 
in London and the merger of Fiskaren 
and Fiskeribladet and related costs.

The business area Nautical Charts con-
sists of Nautisk Forlag. As well as consol-
idating its position as the largest nautical 
chart distributor in the Nordic region, 
Nautisk Forlag has enhanced its position 
as one of the largest player in the inter-
national market via growth in Singapore 
and south-east Asia. 

The company had revenues of NOK 
100.0 million in 2008 against NOK 99.8 
million in 2007. It had an operating loss 
of NOK 0.5 million against profits of 
NOK 3.1 million in 2007. The weaker 
 results were due to restructuring and 
new stock management systems, as well 
as delays. 

GOING CONCERN
The accounts have been prepared on  
the basis of a going concern assumption. 
The forecasts for 2009 and the Group’s 
satisfactory liquidity position, as well as 
an unused revolving facility and the 
Board of Directors’ recommended rights 
issue in May 2009 are the basis for this 
assessment. The Board of Directors be-
lieves that the annual accounts provide 
a true and fair picture of NHST Media 
Group’s assets and liabilities, financial 
position and results.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
The Group does not produce goods or 
services that use environmentally haz-
ardous input factors. Dagens Næringsliv, 
the only newspaper owned by the Group 
that has over-the-counter sales of a cer-
tain quantity, collects unsold newspapers 
via the company AS Avisretur. The news-
papers are forwarded from here for re-
cycling. All office machines that are 
 taken out of production are treated in 
 accordance with regulations. All the 

newspapers buy printing services from 
external suppliers. The environmental 
awareness of the Group’s main suppliers 
has been assessed and found to be satis-
factory.

EMPLOYEES AND WORKING  
ENVIRONMENT 
The working conditions are considered 
to be good and the company attaches 
 importance to HSE activities organised 
by the working environment committee. 
 Cooperation with the employees’ organi-
sations has been good. According to plan, 
the Group moved to new premises in 
 Akerselva Atrium in April 2009.  
The move means that all the Group’s 
 activities in Oslo are located in one place.

Sick leave in the Group was 4.0% in 2008. 
This is 0.9 % lower than in 2007. In the 
parent company NHST Media Group AS, 
sick leave was 3.7%. This is 1.2% lower 
than in 2007. The Group works continu-
ously with measures to reduce sick leave. 
No injuries or accidents were reported 
during the year.

EQUALITY OF STATUS  
AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES 
In 2008, the Group had an average of 
619 employees (596 full-time equiva-
lents), of whom 236 women. There were 
587 full-time employees. 32 people were 
employed part-time. 24 of these were 
women. At the end of the year, there 
were 669 employees. The increase was 
due to integration of the acquisitions  
in IntraFish and Newsdesk, as well as  
the startup of Recharge.

At the end of 2008, the Group’s Board of 
Directors had four members elected by 
shareholders, two women and two men. 

"The business area Dagens Næringsliv (DN) is NHST’s 
largest operation and accounted for 55% of Group 
revenues"
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The Group’s administrative management 
in 2008 consisted of two women and 
three men. All subsidiaries, with the ex-
ception of one, are managed by men and 
there are few women in the management 
groups. The proportion of women in 
middle management is 28%, equivalent 
to the year before. When recruiting for 
executive positions, the best qualified 
person is sought. If candidates are other-
wise equivalent, the underrepresented 
gender will be preferred.

NHST’s staff policy is based on equal 
pay for equal work. This means that 
women and men have equal pay in equal 
positions, provided that other conditions 
and performances are equal. 

The Group seeks to make it possible for 
employees of either gender to combine 
work and family life. During 2008, a total 
of 55 employees had leave of absence, of 
whom 26 were women.

The company had 32 part-time employ-
ees at the end of 2008, 24 of whom were 
women. In positions where it is feasible 
in practice, NHST has made it possible 
for employees to work part-time. Women 
are represented to a higher degree than 
men among those taking leave of ab-
sence, part-time positions and sick leave. 
This is considered primarily to be due  
to women continuing to take greater re-
sponsibility for caring for children and 
family in society.

When recruiting, the Group seeks the 
person best qualified for the job. NHST 
considers that good gender distribution 
contributes to a better working environ-
ment, greater creativity and flexibility 
and better results in the long run. If 

 candidates are otherwise equivalent, a 
person of the underrepresented gender 
will be preferred. The Group will con-
tinue to take an active approach to equal 
opportunities.

RESEARCh AND DEVELOPMENT
The Group includes development costs 
associated with the Group’s electronic 
publishing and production platform in 
the balance sheet. Such costs are normal-
ly depreciated over 3 to 5 years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
AND COMPANY MANAGEMENT
The Group seeks to follow the recom-
mendations of the Oslo Stock Exchange 
in relation to good corporate governance 
and company management. A statement 
is given below of the central conditions 
and any deviations. Every business 
 depends on good relations to succeed.  
A good reputation and good financial 
growth are the preconditions for build-
ing and maintaining confidence among 
important target groups such as share-
holders, customers, employees, suppliers, 
partners and public authorities. This 
  requires that the company be managed 
using good control and management 
mechanisms. Open, honest communica-
tion and equal treatment of the compa-
ny’s shareholders are also important for 
increasing shareholder value and achiev-
ing confidence.

Statement on the company’s corporate 
governance and company management
The company has annual rolling four-
year strategic plans, an annual budget 
and extensive rules for journalistic activ-
ity and provides supplementary informa-
tion in the annual report on other condi-
tions relating to corporate governance 

and company management. In addition, 
the company has instructions for the 
Board of Directors and the CEO. Other-
wise reference is made to other statements.

ACTIVITIES
The company’s objectives are stated in 
the Articles of Association and the objec-
tives and strategies are stated in the an-
nual report. 

EQUITY
NHST Media Group AS has a share capital 
of NOK 11,629,250. The equity as at 31 
 December 2008 was NOK 91,239,500, i.e. 
an equity ratio of 22.4%. For the Group, 
the equity ratio was 23.6%.

DIVIDENDS
NHST seeks to be financed via equity 
and aims to give its shares a competitive 
return in the form of share price increases 
and dividends. When assessing the size 
of the dividends, the Board of Directors 
attaches importance to the company's 
dividend capacity, the requirement for 
adequate equity and sufficient financial 
resources for future development. No 
dividends will be proposed for 2008 on 
account of the need to strenghten the 
company’s financial capacity.

ShARE ISSUES
The Board of Directors has announced 
that it will submit a proposal to the ordi-
nary General Meeting in 2009 to raise 
NOK 50 million in equity via a new share 
rights issue to strenghten the company’s 
equity and operation.

OWN ShARES
Holdings of own shares were unchanged in 
2008. Holdings of own shares are stated in 
note 13.



132008 // board of director's report

Gøran Skaalmo Lisbeth Ølness Christian Andvik Gunnar Bjørkavåg
ceo

EQUAL TREATMENT OF ShARE-
hOLDERS AND TRANSACTIONS 
WITh RELATED PARTIES
The company’s General Meeting is 
open to all approved shareholders and  
all approved shares have an equal right 
to vote. All shareholders may attend in 
person or by proxy. It is not possible to 
 attend and/or vote via the internet. 
There are no known shareholders’ 
agreements. The General Meeting is 
convened with the statutory minimum 
notice.

NEGOTIABILITY
There is just one class of shares and each 
share has one vote at the General Meet-
ing. The shares are freely transferable. 
However, the Board of Directors may 
refuse to allow a share transfer on rea-
sonable grounds. The provision to refuse 
consent to the acquisition of shares is 
based on considerations relating to edito-
rial and business independence.

GENERAL MEETING
The documents for the General Meeting, 
including the recommendations of the 
election committee, are sent to the share-
holders at the latest two weeks before 
the General Meeting is held. Importance 
is attached to the documents containing 
the information necessary for the share-
holders to be able to decide on the busi-
ness on the agenda. According to the 
 articles of association, the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors chairs the General 
Meeting.

COMMITTEES
In 2008, in addition to an internal commit-
tee for elections, the Board used a
 sub-committee that looked at matters  
associated with Group financing. The 

nomi nation committee was elected by 
and amongst the members of the Board 
of Directors for reasons of expediency. 
Two of the members of the Board of 
 Directors also sat on a pension commit-
tee chaired by the administration. The 
task of the committee was to assess the 
Group’s pension schemes.  The Group 
has a compensation committee consist-
ing of three Board members. 

CORPORATE ASSEMBLY AND BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS – COMPOSITION 
AND INDEPENDENCE
NHST has no Corporate Assembly.

NHST aims to have a balanced composi-
tion of the Board of Directors to take 
 account of expertise, experience and 
 relevant background for the company’s 
activities and to represent the composi-
tion of shareholders. The company’s 
management is not represented on the 
Board of Directors. There are no family 
ties to the CEO or other executive em-
ployees. Performance-related directors' 
fees are not used. The Board of Directors 
normally consists of five representatives 
elected by the shareholders but currently 
has four (during the year, one member 
retired). All representatives are elected 
for two years at a time on a rotating 
 basis. Three of the Board members elected 
by the shareholders have direct or in-
direct shareholdings in NHST (see note 
16). None of the Board members have 
signi ficant business relations with the 
company.

WORK OF ThE BOARD  
OF DIRECTORS
For every month, the Board of Directors 
receives a complete profit and loss account 
as well as an executive report describing 

developments in the past month. At an 
extended Board meeting every year, the 
company's strategy is discussed on a 
broad basis. There is also a rotating review 
of subsidiaries at the individual Board 
meetings. The work of the Board of 
 Directors is evaluated annually.

RISK MANAGEMENT  
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group is exposed to various types  
of financial risk linked to ordinary opera-
tions. In the short term, this involves,  
in particular, unpredictable advertising 
markets. There is also a financial risk 
 associated with technical business  
interruption and distribution. The Group 
therefore has extensive safety systems  
in place to deal with such a situation. 
The Group is exposed to risks associated 
with operations in foreign currency. 
Over the year, the risk has been limited 
and managed via established routines 
and internal control. In addition, there is 
continuous assessment of whether net 
expected currency liquidity exposures 
should be hedged. The hedging position  
as at 31/12 is described in detail in the 
notes to the accounts. The Group has a 
relatively diversified customer portfolio 
and thus runs a limitied credit risk related 
to individual customers. 

The Group is giving added attention to 
accounts receivable as a consequence  
of the financial crisis and the Board  
of Directors estimates that the risk of 
major losses is relatively low. 

NHST’s equity financing is necessary to 
manage the financial and liquidity risks. 
An overdraft facility was established  
in 2008 and the Board of Directors has 
 proposed a new share issue to the General 
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Meeting to strenghten the company's 
 equity and operation.

BOARD REMUNERATION
The General Meeting sets the remunera-
tion to the Board of Directors every year. 
For 2008, the total remuneration to the 
Board of Directors was NOK 860,000. 
This was made up of NOK 160,000 to the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
NOK 100,000 to each of the other mem-
bers (reduced in accordance with attend-
ance at Board meetings).

REMUNERATION TO  
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYEES
NHST attaches importance to being an 
attractive employer. The company wants 
to attract skilled employees with relevant 
experience. The company aims to have a 
competitive remuneration system. 

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION
NHST strives to provide good, correct ex-
ternal information every quarter and such 
information is also given to shareholders. 
Reports and messages are also available 
on NHST’s website at www.nhst.no. The 
company does not make specific assump-
tions about future revenues and results. 
The shares in NHST are listed in the OTC 
list in Oslo (stockbrokers’ list of unlisted 
shares) and the share price is listed daily 
under “Børs og marked” in Dagens 
Næringsliv. At the end of the year, the 
share price was NOK 650.

COMPANY TAKEOVER
NHST has no defensive provisions against 
possible acquisition offers in its Articles of 
Association and no prepared guidelines 
for how the company would act in the 
event of a takeover bid.

AUDITOR
The company uses the same audit firm 
in all subsidiaries on all  markets in which 
the company operates, with the exception 
of Singapore, the Middle East, Sweden 
and Finland. The total tender for auditing 
is discussed and approved by the Board 
of Directors and CEO. The auditor is not 
used as a consultant on strategic matters. 
The CFO approves any consultancy as-
signments. The auditor attends the meet-
ing of the Board of Directors at which the 
annual accounts are discussed. The 
 remuneration to the auditor is  reported 
at the ordinary General  Meeting and 
 described in the notes to the accounts.

PROSPECTS FOR 2009
The prospects for 2009 are characterised 
by the uncertainty of the macroeconomic 
situation. From a market standpoint, 
NHST is well positioned for the future. 
Most publications have a leading market 
position that was further strenghtened  
in 2008. However, the effects of the busi-
ness cycle mean that the prospects for 
the Group’s publications in the short 
term, in particular in the advertising 
markets, are more difficult to anticipate 
than in previous years. 

RESULT FOR ThE YEAR  
AND ALLOCATIONS 
The parent company is a holding company 
which, in 2008, had revenues from group 
services of NOK 64.5 million. This is an 
increase of NOK 2.1 million. The operat-
ing result was a loss of NOK 25.8 million 
against a loss of NOK 23.4 million in 
2007. Net financial income was NOK 
57.7 million against NOK 41.4  million  
in 2007. The tax cost for the year is NOK 
9.0 million. 

It is proposed that after tax profits for 
the year in NHST Media Group AS of 
NOK 22.9 million are allocated as follows 
(figures in NOK 1000):

Transferred to retained earnings 22,901
Total allocated 22,901

The free equity in NHST Media Group 
AS is NOK 55.6 million. Total equity is 
NOK 91.2 million and the equity ratio  
is 22.4%.

Oslo, 21. April 2009

Gøran Skaalmo Christian Andvik Lisbeth Ølness Gunnar Bjørkavåg
ceo

Anette S. Olsen
cHairMan

Erik Must Aase Gudding Gresvig Kaare Frydenberg
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Profit and loss account   

nHst Media group as Figures in NOK 1 000 group

2006 2007 2008 note 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenue and expenses

0 0 0 Sales revenue 2  1 072 778 987 618  854 380  

52 960  62 883  64 764 Other operating income 2  8 264 7 020  6 141  

52 960 62 883 64 764 Total operating revenue 1 081 042  994 638  860 521  

0 0 209 Cost of goods and services sold 3  338 875 281 950  242 921  

36 336  45 607  46 008 Personnel costs 4,6  490 031 431 687  369 367  

4 371  5 529  6 386 Ordinary depreciation 7  32 487 23 832  18 304  

28 307  35 160  37 962 Other operating expenses 4,5  237 783 205 078  164 263  

69 015 86 296 90 565 Total operating expenses 1 099 176  942 547  794 855  

 (16 055)  (23 413)  (25 801) Operating profit (loss) (18 134)  52 091  65 666  

Financial income and expenses

49 920 43 049  62 279  income on investments in subsidiaries 8 0  0  0  

 (4 005) (5 456)  (7 236)  interest received from group companies 0  0  0  

3 020 3 534  2 779  interest income  5 186 6 181  4 735  

2 3  380  Other financial income  11 342 2 266  961  

 (254) 810  193  Change in value of market portfolio  63 681  (696)  

 (8) (6)  (25)  interest expenses (863)  (143)  (14)  

 (344) (507)  (708)  Other financial expenses (4 879) (7 092)  (4 767)  

48 330 41 427 57 661 Net financial items 10 849  1 893  220  

32 275 18 014 31 861 Profit (loss) before tax (7 285)  53 984  65 885  

4 731 6 898 (8 960)  Tax 12 (3 400)  (17 815)  (21 022)  

37 006 24 912 22 901 Profit (loss) for the year (10 685) 36 169  44 863  

The minority interests’ share of the profit (loss) for the year 6 528  955  695  

The majority interests’ share of the profit (loss) for the year (4 157)  37 124  45 558  

Transfers and allocations:

32 413  35 782 0 Dividend

4 594 (10 870)  22 901  Transferred other equity

37 006 24 912 22 901 

2008 // profit and loss account
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Balance sheet as at 31 December 

nHst Media group as Figures in NOK 1 000 group

2006 2007 2008 assets note 2008 2007 2006

Fixed assets

Intangible assets:

3 059 6 768  5 589 Other intangible assets 7  42 336  35 447  15 520 

1 000 572  1 497 Deferred tax assets 12 7 725 0 0 

0 0 0 Goodwill 7  41 531  25 215  13 568 

4 059 7 340 7 086 91 592 60 663 29 088 

Tangible fixed assets:

10 189  11 411  12 817 Fixtures, fittings, vehicles, office machinery, etc 7  37 873  35 891  29 878 

Financial fixed asset:

101 434  111 679  130 388 investments in subsidiaries 8 0 0 0 

11 535  5 882  7 031 investments in other shares 9  7 031  5 882  11 535 

0 0 0 Pension assets 6  21 348  18 769  23 200 

6 194  22 406  21 754 Other longterm receivables 10  24 496  24 208  8 004 

119 163 139 967 159 174 52 875 48 860 42 739 

133 411 158 718 179 077 Total fixed assets 182 340 145 413 101 705 

Current assets

Inventories:

0 0 0 inventories  17 732  14 695  15 649 

Receivables:

0 0 0 Trade account receivables  110 307  109 077  85 171 

89 005  118 844  176 854 intercompany receivables 0 0 0 

4 251  7 106  10 284 Other shortterm receivables  35 046  28 530  21 473 

93 256 125 949 187 138  145 353  137 607 106 644 

Investments:

30 431  31 241 0   investment in market portfolio  0  41 355  40 674 

Cash and cash equivalents:

95 407  54 781  40 247 Cash and bank deposits 11  100 486  119 535 142 565 

219 094 211 972 227 385 Total current assets 263 571 313 192 305 533 

352 505 370 689 406 462 total assets 445 911 458 605 407 238

2008 // balance sHeet
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Balance sheet as at 31 December

Oslo, 21. April 2009

Anette S. Olsen
cHairMan

Erik Must Aase Gudding Gresvig Kaare Frydenberg

Gøran Skaalmo Christian Andvik Gunnar Bjørkavåg
ceo

Lisbeth Ølness

nHst Media group as Figures in NOK 1 000 group

2006 2007 2008 eQuitY and liabilities note 2008 2007 2006

Equity

Paid in capital:

11 629 11 629 11 629 Share capital 13, 16 11 629 11 629  11 629 

 (453)  (448)  (448) Own shares 13 (448) (448)  (453)

2 994 2 994 2 994 Share premium reserve 13  2 994  2 994  2 994 

14 170 14 175 14 176  14 176 14 176 14 170 

retained earnings:

64 526 54 163 77 063 Other equity 13  78 952  82 504  81 960 

64 526 54 163 77 063 78 952 82 504 81 960 

Minority interests 13  12 528  5 978  2 705 

78 696 68 338 91 239 Total equity 105 655 102 657 98 836 

liabilities

non current liabilities:

1 314  1 364  689 Pension liabilities 0 0 0 

0 0 0 Deferred tax 12 0  1 550  2 061 

0 0 0 Longterm borrowings 14  12 560  1 432 0 

1 314 1 364 689  12 560  2 981  2 061 

current liabilities:

5 456  4 897  4 813 Trade accounts payable  40 011  43 586  38 313 

0 0 0 Advance payments from customers  157 204  149 656  132 355 

225 524  247 620  287 484 intercompany liabilities 0 0 0 

31  82  9 885 income tax payable 12  13 288  18 032  19 803 

2 782  3 696  3 299 Unpaid govt. charges and special taxes 11  33 927  39 543  33 653 

32 413  35 782 0 Accrued dividend 0  35 782  32 413 

6 289  8 912  9 053 Other current liabilities  83 266  66 368  49 803 

272 495 300 987  314 534 327 696 352 967 306 340 

273 809 302 351 315 223 Total liabilities 340 256 355 948 308 401 

352 505 370 689 406 462 total eQuitY and liabilities 445 911 458 605 407 238

2008 // balance sHeet
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Cash flow statement

nHst Media group as Figures in NOK 1 000 group

2006 2007 2008 2008 2007 2006

CASh FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

32 275 18 014 31 861 Profit before tax (7 285)  53 984  65 885 

 (12 666)  (66)  (82) Tax payable (18 537)  (20 118) (14 657)  

 (109)  (105)  (107) Gain on the sale of operating assets (614)  (712) (737)  

4 371 5 529 6 386 Ordinary depreciation 32 487  23 832  18 304  

 (49 920)  (43 049)  (62 279) income from investments in subsidiaries 0  0  0  

0 0 0 Changes in inventories (3 037)  954  (3 369)  

0 0 0 Changes in trade accounts receivable (1 230)  (23 907) (21 642)  

3 333  (559)  (84) Changes in trade accounts payable (3 575)  5 273  8 067  

0 0 0 Changes in advances from customers 7 548  17 301  8 888  

46 50  (675) Net cash contribution to pension plans (2 579)  4 431  (2 217)  

0 0 0 Translation differences 926  (119)  (14)  

 (2 506)  (15 530)  (2 782) Changes in other accruals and liabilities 17 035  5 677  19 444  

(25 174) (35 715) (27 762) Net cash flow from operating activities 21 139  66 597   77 952 

CASh FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

380 580 523 Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 1 764  3 143  2 320  

0 0 0 Proceeds from other investments 0  0  1  

 (8 245)  (10 935)  (7 028) Purchase of tangible fixed assets (58 819)  (63 850)  (26 408)  

23 736  (8 252)  (18 146) Liquidity transfers within the Group 0  0  0  

 (625)  (224)  (18 710) Share investments in subsidiaries 0  0  (120)  

0  (3 011) 0 Share issues in subsidiary 0  0  0  

0  (1 357)  (1 149) Other investments (1 149)  (1 357)  (20)  

15 247 (23 199) (44 511) Net cash flow from investing activities (58 204)  (62 064) (24 227)

CASh FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

650 511 0 Proceeds from sale of own shares 0  511  650  

 (630) 0 0 investments in own shares 0  0  (630)  

 (29 059)  (32 413)  (35 782) Payment of dividend (35 782)  (32 413) (29 059)  

0 0 0 Amount received as new equity from minority interests 12 442  5 020  0  

60 240 51 000 62 279 Group contribution and dividend received 0  0  0  

31 201 19 098 26 497 Net cash flow from financing activities (23 339)  (26 882)  (29 039)

21 275 (39 816) (45 775) Net change in cash and cash equivalents (60 404) (22 349) 24 686 

104 563 125 838 86 022 Cash and cash equivalents held 1.1 160 890  183 239  158 554 

125 838 86 022 40 247 Cash and cash equivalents held 31.12 100 486  160 890  183 239 
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Notes

The annual accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with the Accounting Act of 1998 

and generally accepted accounting principles 

in Norway.

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

NHST Media Group AS is a holding company 

that provides administrative services to all its 

subsidiaries. 

The consolidated accounts include NHST and 

subsidiaries in which NHST owns, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 50% of the share capi

tal. All the Group companies apply the same 

accounting principles. All significant transac

tions and intercompany accounts between 

companies in the Group have been eliminated. 

investments in companies in which the Group 

has a considerable influence (associates) are 

accounted for according to the equity method. 

The Group is normally considered to have sig

nificant influence when it owns 2050 per cent 

of the voting capital. 

Foreign subsidiaries’ profit and loss accounts 

are translated using the average exchange 

rate, while the balance sheet at 31 December  

is translated at the exchange rate applicable 

on 31 December. Translation differences are 

 recognised in equity.

Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated in the 

consolidated accounts using the purchase 

 method. This means that the acquired com

pany’s assets and liabilities are valued at their 

fair value on the acquisition date and any re

maining surplus price is classified as goodwill. 

For partly owned subsidiaries, only NHST’s 

share of the goodwill is included in the balance 

sheet.

OPERATING INCOME

Advertising revenues are recognised as income 

at the time the advertisements are published. 

They are recorded net of commissions, dis

counts and complaints. Subscription revenues 

are billed and paid in advance, but are recog

nized as income on a straightline basis over 

the agreement period. income from the sale  

of goods is recognized as income when the 

goods are delivered.

COST

Costs are usually recorded during the same 

period as the revenues associated with them. 

in those cases where there is no clear link be

tween cost and revenues, costs are distributed 

according to a discretionary criteria. 

ASSESSMENT AND CLASSIFICATION OF  

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Assets intended for permanent ownership or 

use is classified as fixed assets. Other assets 

are classified as current assets. Receivables 

falling due within one year are always classi

fied as current assets. A similar criteria apply 

to the classification of current liabilities. 

Fixed assets are valued at their acquisition 

cost less depreciation but are written down  

to their fair value if the impairment in value  

is  considered permanent. Fixed assets with  

a limited useful economic life are subject to 

scheduled depreciation.

Current assets are recorded at the lower of 

their acquisition cost and fair value. Current 

 liabilities are recorded at the nominal amount 

received at the time the liability was estab

lished.

Certain items are assessed according to other 

rules, an account of which is given below.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The costs of creating intangible assets are 

capitalised in the balance sheet when it is 

more probable than not that a future financial 

benefits will accrue from the asset and the 

cost can be measured reliably.

intangible assets bought individually are recor

ded at their acquisition price. intangible assets 

that are acquired when a company is pur

chased are recorded at their acquisition cost 

when the criteria for capitalisation have been 

met. intangible assets with a limited useful eco

nomic life are subject to scheduled depreciation. 

intangible assets are written down to their fair 

value if the expected financial benefits do not 

cover the value recorded in the balance sheet 

and any remaining production costs.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over the 

expected useful economic life of the asset. 

 Ordinary depreciation is on a straightline 

 basis over the following periods: 

Vehicles  : 5 years

Fixtures and office equipment : 5 years

Computer equipment : 3 to 5 years

Goodwill : 5 to 10 years

The Company has chosen to depreciate good

will over a period of more than 5 years. A de

preciation period beyond 5 years is chosen to 

reflect the operations in the related subsidiary.  

Companies in a development phase will not 

reach their potential, return and cashflow with

in a 5 year period from the acquisition date.  

Thus, a longer depreciation period has been 

chosen to better reflect the operations. 

ShARES IN SUBSIDIARIES AND  

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 

investments in subsidiaries are valued accord

ing to the cost method. The investments are 

written down to their fair value if the impair

ment is considered permanent.  Dividends and 

group contributions received from the subsidi

aries are recorded as other financial income in 

the parent. The same applies to investments in 

associated companies.

Shares with a non material value classified as 

fixed assets are recorded in the balance sheet 

at their acquisition cost. These investments are 

written down to their fair value if the impair

ment is considered permanent. Dividends 

 received from the companies are taken to 

 income as other financial income.

note 1  |  accounting principles
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PENSIONS

When accounting for defined benefit pension 

schemes, the liability is charged to expenses 

over the service period in accordance with the 

plan’s earnings formula. The allocation method 

corresponds to the plan’s earnings formula, 

unless most of the earning takes place towards 

the end of the service period, in which case 

straightline accrual is used. Deviations in the 

estimates and the effects of changed assump

tions are amortised over the expected remain

ing service period to the extent that they ex

ceed 10 % of the pension liabilities or the 

pension assets, whichever is the higher (corri

dor). The effect of changes to plans with a 

 retroactive effect that are not conditional on 

future employment is to be included in the 

profit and loss account immediately. Changes 

to plans with a retroactive effect that are 

 conditional on future employment are to be 

divid ed in a straight line over the period until 

the benefit is no longer conditional on future 

employment. The net pension liability is the 

difference between the present value of the 

pension liabilities and the value of the pension 

assets that have been set aside as payment for 

the benefits. The pension assets are assessed 

at their fair value. The pension liabilities and 

pension assets are measured on the balance 

sheet date. 

Employers’ national insurance contributions 

are included in the figures and are calculated 

on the net actual pension obligation. 

The Company’s ordinary pension plan gives all 

members the right to a future defined benefit. 

This mainly depends on the number of service 

years, the salary level on the retirement date 

and an estimated benefit payable under the 

National insurance Scheme, based on current 

regulations. 

The Company also has a pension plan for sala

ries in excess of 12 times the National insurance 

Scheme’s basic amount (G), in which the 

 benefit is limited in that it only applies until  

the member reaches the age of 77 years. The 

pension benefit depends on the employee’s 

number of earnings years and salary level on 

the retirement date. in some parts of the 

Group in Norway, employees can opt to take 

Agreed Early Retirement (AFP) pension in 

 accordance with the Confederation of Norwe

gian Enterprise’s scheme. Defined contribution 

plans are to be accrued according to the 

 matching principle.

INVENTORIES

inventories are recorded at the lower of their 

acquisition cost according to the FiFO method 

and their net sales value. 

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE  

AND OThER RECEIVABLES

Trade accounts receivable and other receiv

ables are recorded in the annual accounts at 

their nominal value minus an unspecified 

 provision for future bad debts.

CURRENCY hEDGING

The company calculates its exposure in various 

currencies. Large, uncovered foreignexchange 

positions are covered by entering into forward 

exchange contracts. Forward exchange con

tracts are classified as hedges of future trans

actions and assets kept off the balance sheet.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments, including shares and 

bonds, classified as current assets from part  

of a trading portfolio intended for resale and 

have a good spread of ownership and are 

highly liquid. They are recorded at their fair 

 value on the balance sheet date. Other invest

ments are recorded at the lower of their ave

rage acquisition cost and their fair value on  

the balance sheet date.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Bank deposits, receivables and liabilities in for

eign currencies are translated at the exchange 

rate on the balance sheet date. Prepaid sub

scriptions in foreign currencies are, as at 31 

 December recorded at a weighted average of 

the rate on the payment date and the forward 

exchange rate.

TAXES

The tax charge is shown together with the 

 accounting result before tax. Taxes linked to 

equity transactions are debited to equity. The 

tax charge consists of taxes payable (tax on 

the year’s direct taxable income) and changes 

in net deferred tax. The tax charge is divided 

between the profit on ordinary operations and 

the profit on extraordinary items in accordance 

with the tax base. Deferred tax and deferred 

tax assets are presented net in the balance 

sheet.

income by geographic market (figures in NOK 1000) norge uK usa rest of the world total group

Operating income  879 474  37 624  40 022  123 922  1 081 042

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 2008 2007 2006

0 0 0 Advertising 467 164 446 276 378 685 

0 0 0 Circulation 451 523 398 471 358 985 

0 0 0 Other sales income 154 091 142 872 116 709 

0 0 0 Total sales revenue 1 072 778 987 618 854 380 

109 103 107 Gain on sale of operating assets 614 710 730 

52 721 62 440 64 538 Sales to group companies 0 0 0 

0 0 0 Press subsidy to AS Fiskaren 6 842 5 075 5 049 

131 341 119 Other operating income 808  1 235  362  

52 960 62 883 64 764 Total other operating income 8 264 7 020 6 141 

note 2  |  operating revenue    Figures in NOK 1 000

2008 // notes
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nHst group

2006 2007 2008 2008 2007 2006

0 0 0 Cost of goods sold 64 126 64 875 60 433 

0 0 0 Printing costs 114 463 93 924 73 089 

0 0 0 Distribution costs 117 374 102 262 92 426 

0 0 209 Purchased content 42 912 20 889 16 973 

0 0 209 Total 338 875 281 950 242 921

note 3  | cost of goods and services sold     Figures in NOK 1 000

2008 // notes

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 personnel cost 2008 2007 2006

26 971 33 860 35 712 Salaries 400 591 347 916 303 231 

4 133 4 799 5 241 National insurance contributions 46 210 43 764 36 768 

1 548 1 943 2 428 Pension costs  defined benefit plans 23 961 17 711 10 703 

0 0 0 Pension costs  defined contribution plans 442 393 61 

0 0 0 Pension costs  abroad 1 794 1 310 883 

3 684 5 005 2 627 Other benefits 17 033 20 593 17 720 

36 336 45 607 46 008 Total 490 031 431 687 369 367

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 remuneration and fees 2008 2007 2006

750 815 860 Board remuneration 1 623 1 540 1 510 

2 746 3 892 3 657 Remuneration to the CEO 3 657 3 892 2 746 

145 532 526 Auditors fee 1 842 1 689 1 259 

      

the fee paid to deloitte as and collaborating companies was divided as follows:

158 Mandatory audit 1 162

0 Other certification services 32

165 Tax advice 169

204 Other services 479

526 Total 1 842 

The remuneration to the Chief Executive Officer includes a bonus, a company car and a pension premium. if dismissed by the employer, it has 
been agreed that the CEO is to receive up to 18 months’ salary. NHST has not granted any loans to or lodged any security on behalf of senior 
members of the staff or directors in 2008. in 2008, NHST employed an average of 49 manyears while the Group employed 596. The remunera
tion to the Chairman of the Board  was NOK 160 000 while the other directors received  NOK 100 000 each. 

note 4  |  personnel costs and reMuneration    Figures in NOK 1 000

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 2008 2007 2006

18 486 20 804 23 061 Office expenses 96 543 85 792 68 481 

1 299 1 179 810 Marketing and provision expenses 31 897 31 349 25 581 

0 0 0 Bad debt 8 062 2 117 1 837 

8 522 13 177 14 091 Other expenses 101 281 85 821 68 364 

28 307 35 160 37 962 Total 237 783 205 078 164 263

note 5  |  otHer operating eXpenses     Figures in NOK 1 000
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note 6  |  pension costs, assets and liabilities   Figures in NOK 1 000

According to the Norwegian Compulsory Company Pension Act, the company must have a company pension plan. All the Group companies 
have pension plans for their employees which meet this Act’s requirements.  Nine of the companies have defined benefit pension plans while the 
remainder have defined contribution pension plans in Norway and abroad.

in December 2008 it was decided that the current defined benefit plans will be closed and that any new employees will be offered a defined con
tribution plan. The fixed contribution will be 5% of the wage between 1 and 6 G and 8% of the wages between 6 and 12 G.  it was also decided to 
change some of the benefits in the defined benefit plans.  Disability and child pensions will no longer give right to a paid up policy when leaving 
the plan and the pension benefit will gradually reduce up until 86 years. The changes will take effect as of 2009. 

The Group’s defined benefit pension plans:
The pension liabilities cover 52 employees of NHST and 469 employees of the Group as at 31.12.08. in addition, the pension plans cover 44 retirees.

The liabilities and costs have been calculated based on the following assumptions:  

assumptions  2008 2007

Discount rate 5,5 % 4,75 %

Estimated return 5,5 % 5,5 %

Salary increase 4,0 % 4,0 %

inflation and G (National insurance basic amount) adjustment 4,0 % 4,0 %

Pension payment increase 1,6 % 1,6 %

Retirement rate for those under the age of 40 10,0 % 10,0 %

Retirement rate for the age class 40 to 55 5,0 % 5,0 %

Retirement rate for those over the age of 50 2,0 % 2,0 %

net pension cost 2008: nHst group

Present value of this year’s service cost 2 127 18 125 

interest cost on the accrued pension liability 809 9 564 

Social security tax 357 2 519 

Return on plan assets (999) (9 925)

Amortised changes in pension plan 155 1 416 

Amortised part of actuarial gains and losses on wages >12G 0 0

Amortised actuarial gains and losses (22) 2 263 

Net pension cost 2 428 23 961 

balanse sheet as per 31 december 2008: nHst group

Estimated value of plan assets 13 745 165 401 

Employer’s National insurance contributions on net liabilities (321) (4 872)

Estimated accrued pension liabilities (16 143) (199 520)

Estimated net pension assets (liabilities) (2 719) (38 990)

 

Unrecognised changes in pension plans 909 9 663 

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses 1 121 50 675 

Net pension asset (liability) (689) 21 348 

2008 2007 2006

Valueadjusted return on funds in the NHST Pension Fund 3,7 % 6,0 % 7,8 %

defined contribution pension plan

For some Group companies, a Compulsory Company Pension plan has been entered into with Storebrand in 2007. The annual contributions are 
2% of salary. in addition, a disability insurance has been included, which pays 66% of salary in the case of incapacity to work provided  that the 
employee is in a fulltime position and has maximum service earnings. The cost of the defined contribution pension plan equaled TNOK 442 in 
2008.
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nHst
acquisition  

cost 01.01.08
additions

2008
disposals

2008
acc.  

ordinary depr.
book value 

31.12.08
this years  

depr./amort.

Other intangible assets 7 248 372 0 2 032 5 589 1 552

Fixtures, fittings, vehicles, office machinery, etc.                   35 884 4 630 1 001 30 726 8 787 4 834

Company cabin 1 538 2 026 0 0 3 564 0

Art 467 0 0 0 467 0

Total      6 386

group

Other intangible assets 40 251 15 771 983 12 704 42 336 7 941

Goodwill 35 715 22 998 0 17 182 41 531 6 679

Fixtures, fittings, vehicles, office machinery                      128 761 20 050 4 110 107 525 37 176 17 867

Art 697 0 0 0 697 0

Total      32 487

note 7  |  fiXed assets    Figures in NOK 1 000

Goodwill 2008:
Book  

value 31.12
This years 

 amortisation

intrafish Media AS 9 647 1 504

Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 7 781 865

Smartcom interaktive AS 8 422 1 698

Smartcom international AS 608 71

Europower AS 4 933 1 018

Nautisk Forlag AS 3 382 1 230

Newsdesk AB 6 757 294

Total 41 531 6 679
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companies owned by nHst Media group as
acquisition 

date
registered 

office

ownership 
and % of 

votes
acquisition 

cost
profit (loss) 

for 2008
equity 

31.12.08

Dagens Næringsliv AS 01.01.91 Oslo 100,0 % 1 000 38 546 43 813 

Nautisk Forlag AS 01.01.64 Oslo 100,0 % 6 600 714 10 728 

TradeWinds AS 09.01.85 Oslo 100,0 % 90 9 387 13 388 

TDN Nyhetsbyrå AS 01.01.91 Oslo 100,0 % 926 2 783 7 105 

Upstream AS 20.06.96 Oslo 100,0 % 10 200 7 273 9 101 

NHST Media Group Asia Pte Ltd 09.09.97 Singapore 100,0 % 4 (264) 3 301 

DN Nye Medier AS 15.05.00 Oslo 100,0 % 36 010 1 536 39 794 

Europower AS 02.01.01 Oslo 100,0 % 4 808 (2 406) 6 658 

intrafish Media AS 01.03.01 Bergen 60,0 % 41 515 (14 724) (12 402)

Dagens iT  AS 01.06.05 Oslo 100,0 % 2 386 31 2 418 

Smartcom interaktive AS 01.09.05 Oslo 75,5 % 13 912 (3 231) (112)

NHST Events AS 01.06.06 Oslo 100,0 % 141 (2 366) 230 

DN Søk AS 01.06.06 Oslo 100,0 % 129 (3 661) 175 

DN Privat Økonomi AS 01.06.06 Oslo 100,0 % 125 (5) 110 

DN TV AS 01.09.06 Oslo 100,0 % 112 (4 386) 146 

Norges Handels og Sjøfartstidende AS 01.12.06 Oslo 100,0 % 118 (2) 100 

Workspace AS 16.04.07 Oslo 100,0 % 112 (1 633) 102 

Recharge AS 02.05.08 Oslo 100,0 % 115 (3 612) 102 

Newsdesk AB 07.08.08 Stockholm 54,2 % 12 085 (335) 5 976 

Total 130 388  

Subsidiary of Intrafish Media AS

intrafish Custom Publishing AS 04.04.06 Bergen 100,0 % 104 28 100 

Shareholding in Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 20.06.07 Bergen 68,5 % 13 868 726 40 237 

Subsidiary of Eierselskapet Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS:

Fiskeribladet Fiskaren AS 01.03.01 Bergen 100,0 % 27 000 (1 986) 5 696 

Subsidiary of  Nautisk Forlag AS:

Navicharts AS  Oslo 100,0 % 130 (4) 106 

Subsidiary of Smartcom Interaktive AS:

Smartcom international AS 02.07.07 Oslo 100,0 % 112 (6 862) (6 680)

Subsidiary of Europower AS:

instream OY 01.04.07 Helsinki 75,8 % 4 350 (623) (3 914)

Energi Forlag AS 10.09.07 Oslo 100,0 % 112 2 103 

Subsidiary of  NhST Asia Pte Ltd:

NHST Middle East FZ LLC 19.06.06 Dubai 100,0 % 105 0 (65)

The companies have been analysed to assess whether there is an impairment need.  Based on a net present value approach there has been no 
need for impairments as of 31 December 2008. 

note 8  |  investMents in subsidiaries     Figures in NOK 1 000

2008 // notes
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firma acquisition date
registered  

office
ownership and 

% of votes acquisition cost
nHst book 

value
group book 

value

innholdsutvikling AS 24.03.04 Oslo 17,5 % 5 359 5 359 5 359 

NHST Monde Ltd 01.04.07 New Dehli, india 50,0 % 1 338 1 338 1 338 

Others 334 334 

Total 7 031 7 031

note 9  |  investMents in otHer sHares    Figures in NOK 1 000

note 10  |  otHer long-terM receivables     Figures in NOK 1 000

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 2008 2007 2006

3 194 19 706 19 054 Deposits and other longterm receivables 21 796 21 508 5 004 

3 000 2 700 2 700 Paid in capital in the pension fund 2 700 2 700 3 000 

6 194 22 406 21 754 Total 24 496 24 208 8 004 

All the receivables fall due more than one year after the balance sheet date. TNOK 17 193 relates to a deposit for  
Akerselva Atrium which is currently being built and for which a lease has been entered into as from 1 April 2009 .

note 11  |  banK deposits

Of NHST’s bank deposits, TNOK 1 981 is restricted to cover income tax withheld on behalf of employees and  
TNOK 5 850 is restricted deposits.  The corresponding figures for the Group are TNOK 16 681 and TNOK 6 080. 

note 12  |  taXes    Figures in NOK 1 000

Deferred tax as at 31.12.08 is calculated at 28% of the temporary differences between values for accounting purposes and values  
for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are offset in their entirety against deferred  tax. The temporary differences are as follows:

 nHst  group

31.12.08 31.12.07 change 31.12.08 31.12.07 change

689 1 364 (675) Net pension asset/liabilites 22 906 22 578 328 

974 1 218 (244) Gain and loss account 974 1 217 (243)

(7 011) (6 166) (845) Fixed assets (17 881) (18 243) 362 

0 0 0 Receivebles (2 651) (849) (1 802)

0 0 0 Restructuring costs (15 199) 0 (15 199)

0 0 0 inventory (200) 0 (200)

0 1 541 (1 541) Market based investments 0 1 909 (1 909)

0 0 0 Customer base 2 512 0 2 512 

0 0 0 Other temporary differences (70) (1 131) 1 061 

0 0 0 Carry forward tax losses (17 980) 0 (17 980)

(5 348) (2 043) (3 305) Calculation basis for deferred tax (27 589) 5 480 (33 070)

(1 497) (572) (925) Deferred tax in Norway (7 725) 1 550 (9 260)

Deferred tax assets are recorded in the company’s balance sheet because the company expects to use these assets in the years to come. Taxes 
payable in Norway are calculated at 28% of the taxable net income arrived at after the profit before taxes is adjusted for permanent differences 
and changes in temporary differences as follows:
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note 13  |  eQuitY    Figures in NOK 1 000

nHst share capital   own shares
share premium 

reserve
annen

egenkapital sum

Equity as at 31.12.07 11 629 (448) 2 994 54 163 68 338 

    

Change in equity during the year:

Profit for the year 22 901 22 901 

Equity as at 31.12.08 11 629 (448) 2 994 77 064 91 239 

group share capital   own shares
share premium 

reserve other equity
Minority  
interests total

Equity as at 31.12.07 11 629 (448) 2 994 82 504 5 978 102 657 

     

Change in equity during the year:

Minority share at time of purchase 636 636 

Payment from minorities 12 442 12 442 

Translation differences  605 605 

Profit (loss) for the year (4 157) (6 528) (10 685)

Equity as at 31.12.08 11 629 (448) 2 994 78 952 12 528 105 655 

Own shares: 

The Company owns a total of 44,752 of its own shares. These shares were purchased to be used  
in a business development context, as part of an option program and for other purposes . 

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 taXes paYable on tHe profit for tHe Year: 2008 2007 2006

32 275  18 014  31 861  Profit before taxes (7 285) 53 984 65 885 

(49 920) (43 049) 0  income from investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 

0  0  0  Tax basis abroad 659 (1 939) (596)

0  0  0  Goodwill amortisation 3 600 2 864 1 935 

736  400  137  Permanent differences 2 798 2 113 3 513 

0  0  0  Deficit intrafish Media AS 14 724 4 962 3 557 

0  0  0  Change in temporary differences 1.1 (1 593) 0 0 

1 020  (1 529) 3 305  Change in temporary differences this year 33 070 1 872 (4 040)

(15 888) (26 164) 35 303 Basis for tax payable calculations 45 972 63 855 70 254 

(4 449) (7 326) 9 885 Tax payable on the profit for the year 12 872 17 879 19 671 

nHst group

2006 2007 2008 taX costs for tHe Year in tHe profit and loss account: 2008 2007 2006

(4 449) (7 326) 9 885 Tax payable on profit for the year in Norway 12 872 17 879 19 671 

0 0 0 Tax payable on profit for the year abroad 647 480 318 

4 0 0 Changes from previous years (860) (20) (99)

(286) 428 (925) Changes in deferred tax (9 260) (524) 1 131 

(4 731) (6 898) 8 960 Tax cost 3 400 17 815 21 022 

31.12.06 31.12.07 31.12.08
tHe taX paYable in tHe balance sHeet is arrived at as 
follows: 31.12.08 31.12.07 31.12.06

(4 449) (7 326) 9 885 Tax payable in Norway 12 872 17 879 19 671 

0 0 0 Tax refund subsidiaries 0 0 12 

4 480 7 408 0 Tax payable on Group contribution 0 0 0 

0 0 0 Tax payable abroad 647 480 318 

0 0 0 Prepaid taxes abroad (231) (327) (199)

31 82 9 885 Total tax payable 13 288 18 032 19 803

note 12  |  CONT. 
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As of 31 December, 2008 the company has an unused credit facility of MNOK 50. The facility has a variable interest rate and is given based  
on a negative pledge.

Europower’s Finnish subsidiary, intstream, has an interestonly loan from Finland’s TEKES, which is a public financing institution for technology 
companies in Finland. The interest on the loan is the “Finnish base rate” minus 1% although it cannot fall below 3%. The loan shall only be repaid 
when the company is in an accumulated profit position. if the company does not make a profit, the loan will lapse/be deleted. The same applies to 
the interest payments. The term of the loan was 7 years but has later been extended  to 10 years. The loan was entered into on 25 September 2003 
and matures on 24 September 2013.

note 14  |  sHort and long-terM loans   

note 15  |  related parties   

The parent company, NHST Media Group AS, supplies iT and financial services to Group companies, which are invoiced according to services 
actually used. in addition, a share of overhead costs is charged based on the use of financial and iT services or the number of employees in the 
companies. 

The company’s main supplier of printing services Dagbladet Trykk AS is related to Avishuset Dagbladet AS, one of NHST Media Group’s main 
share  holders. Furthermore, Mediehuset Dagbladet AS also owns competing businesses to NHST Media Group. Dagbladet Trykk AS delivers   
printing services to Dagens Næringsliv AS, Trade Winds AS, Upstream AS, Recharge AS and Europower AS.  The printing contract was awarded 
after  several competing bids were considered and was entered into based on an arm’s length principle. 

note 16  |  sHare capital and sHareHolder inforMation    Figures in NOK 1 000

The company’s share capital as at 31.12.08 was TNOK 11,629 (1,162,925 shares each with a nominal value of NOK 10).  
There is only one share class. Each share carries one vote. 

ownership structure: 

 As at 31 December 2008, the 20 largest shareholders in NHST Media Group AS: no. of sHares ownersHip 

Avishuset Dagbladet AS 238 294 20,49 %

Bonheur ASA 191 506 16,47 %

Ganger Rolf ASA 187 824 16,15 %

Must invest AS 163 148 14,03 %

Torstein Tvenge 60 854 5,23 %

Skagen Vekst 30 000 2,58 %

MP Pensjonskasse 27 000 2,32 %

Fredrik Olsen AS 25 545 2,20 %

Falck Frås AS 20 974 1,80 %

Aase Gudding Gresvig (Sjøgress AS) 18 970 1,63 %

Pershing LLC 16 422 1,41 %

Hans Jacob Røeds dødsbo 15 200 1,31 %

Fram Media AS 13 000 1,12 %

Dagbladets Pensjonskasse 12 772 1,10 %

Pareto AS 12 464 1,07 %

Straen AS 12 410 1,07 %

OAK Management AS 5 130 0,44 %

Jon Rømer Sandberg 2 975 0,26 %

Annelise Altenburg Must 2 810 0,24 %

Jan Røed 2 800 0,24 %

Sum 20 largest shareholders 1 060 098 91,16 %

Total other shareholders 58 075 4,99 %

Shares owned by NHST 44 752 3,85 %

Total number of shares 1 162 925 100,0 %
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note 16  |  cont.    Figures in NOK 1 000

Shares owned by the CEO and members of the board and their related parties:

name position no. of shares ownership

Anette S. Olsen * Chairman of the board 379 330 32,62 %

Erik Must Board member 170 268 14,64 %

Aase Gudding Gresvig Board member 20 665 1,78 %

Gøran Skaalmo Board member 30 0,00 %

Gunnar Bjørkavåg CEO 700 0,06 %

* The number of shares related to Anette S. Olsen is based on the shares owned by Bonheur ASA og Ganger Rolf ASA where Anette S. Olsen is CEO.

restructuring costs:

in the fourth quarter of 2008 a profit improvement program was launched, in order to counteract the reduced revenue forecast caused by the 
current financial crisis.  The initiatives encompass both employment reduction programs as well as reduced R&D activities. This has resulted in a 
restructuring charge in the fourth quarter in Dagens Næringsliv of MNOK 15 and  MNOK 10 in other parts of the group.

in January 2009, additional restructuring costs of MNOK 12 were taken in Dagens Næringsliv. This will affect the first quarter 2009. 

note 17  | subseQuent events   

note 18  |  financial derivatives    Figures in NOK 1 000

in October 2008, The Company purchased currency forward contracts for TradeWinds, Upstream and intrafish Media  with maturities from 3 to 15 
months and 12 term payments in 2009.  For TradeWinds and Upstream the contracts cover the sale of 70% of their net budgeted cash surplus in 
USD and EURO.  For intrafish Media the contracts cover the sale of 70% of its net budgeted cash surplus in EURO. All the derivatives are accounted 
for as hedges. 

The forward USD/NOK price is in the interval 6.19806.3575 in 2009 against 5.485055.5510 in 2008.  The corresponding interval for the EURO/NOK 
contracts are 8.43958.6520 in 2009 against 8.03208.1320 in 2008.

        31.12.08                31.12.07

usd noK usd noK

Nominal value 6 426 5 355 

Market value per 31.12. (4 545) 568 

euro noK euro noK

Nominal value 5 829 5 565 

Market value per 31.12. (7 610) 648
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Group summary

dagens 
 nÆringsliv digital & nordic global

nautical 
cHarts otHer

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT  
1/1-31/12-2008

dn nYe 
Medier tdn

euro- 
power

news- 
  desK **

sMartcoM 
inter- 

active

sMartcoM 
inter- 

national
    dn  

søK 
dn  
tv 

up- 
streaM

trade-
winds

intrafisH 
Media 

(group)
nHst  

events nHst otHers
group 

2008
group 

2007
% 

change

Advertising revenues 287 881  45 076  7 095   788  1 231  41 743  35 851  48 335  (839) 467 162  446 276  5 

Subscription / singlesale revenues 301 154  14 355  11 544  40 023  45 955  39 495  (1 000) 451 526  398 471  13 

Other operating revenues 5 139  4 941  3 967  7 298  20 182  1 048  20  419  242  13 452  11 479  99 992  64 764  (70 588) 162 355  149 891  8 

Total operating revenues 594 174  50 017  14 355  22 606  7 298  20 182  1 048  788  1 251  82 184  82 048  101 283  11 479  99 992  64 764  (72 427) 1 081 043  994 638  9 

Operating expenses (548 808)  (49 495) (10 836) (27 223) (7 682) (24 346) (10 169) (5 354) (7 056) (75 897) (72 130)  (117 262) (14 693) (100 490) (90 573) 62 837  (1 099 177) (942 547) 17 

Operating profit (loss) 45 366  522  3 519  (4 617) (384) (4 164) (9 121) (4 566) (5 805) 6 288  9 917  (15 979) (3 214) (498) (25 809) (9 589) (18 134) 52 091  (135) 

Financial items 8 507  1 715  351  (114)  49  (310) (399) (307) (287) 3 218  3 522  (1 320) (66) 1 477  57 666  (62 852) 10 849  1 893  473 

Profit (loss) before tax 53 873  2 237  3 870  (4 731) (335) (4 474 (9 520) (4 873) (6 092) 9 505  13 439  (17 299) (3 280) 979  31 857  (72 442) (7 285) 53 984  (113)

Tax (15 331)  (701) (1 087) 782  1 243  2 657  1 361  1 706  (2 232) (4 053)  1 317  914  (270) (8 960 19 254  (3 400) (17 815) (81)

Minority interests 397  6 131  6 528  955  584 

Profit (loss) for the group 38 542  1 536  2 783  (3 949) (335) (3 231) (6 862) (3 512) (4 386) 7 273  9 387  (15 586) (2 366) 709  22 898  (47 057) (4 157) 37 124  (111)

  

BALANCE ShEET AS OF 
31.12.2008

Fixed assets 38 913  5 484  1 092  6 313  102  6 861  4 771  3 499  832  1 281  1 796  32 355  227  10 208  179 077  (110 471) 182 340  101 705  79 

Current assets 180 397  42 186  8 180  8 509  10 086  8 043  1 379  5 249  1 292  38 987  44 110  29 975  4 588  46 656  227 495  (393 560) 263 572  305 533  (14)

Total assets 219 310  47 671  9 272  14 822  10 189  14 904  6 149  8 748  2 124  40 268  45 905  62 331  4 815  56 863  406 572  (504 031) 445 912  407 238  9 

Group share of equity 43 923  39 794  7 105  2 783  5 976  (212) (6 680) 324  146  9 101  13 388  (20 112) 230  10 834  91 339  (104 811) 93 128  96 131  (3)

Minority interests 12 046  482  12 528  2 705  363 

Non current liabilities 33  4 952  424  87  136  109  20 445  6  169  689  (14 491) 12 560  2 061  509 

Current liabilities 175 387  7 877  2 134  7 087  3 788  15 116  12 829  8 438  1 841  31 059  32 518  49 952  4 578  45 860  314 544  (385 212) 327 697  306 341  7 

Total liabilities 175 387  7 877  2 167  12 039  4 212  15 116  12 829  8 425  1 978  31 168  32 518  70 397  4 585  46 029  315 233  (399 703) 340 257  308 402  10 

Total equity and liabilities 219 310  47 671  9 272  14 822  10 189  14 904  6 149  8 748  2 124  40 268  45 905  62 331  4 815  56 863  406 572  (504 031) 445 912  407 238  9 

Ad *) Operations integrated with DN Nye Medier from 2009

Ad **) Company acquired august 2008

Ad ***) includes Group eliminations

* *
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Advertising revenues 287 881  45 076  7 095   788  1 231  41 743  35 851  48 335  (839) 467 162  446 276  5 

Subscription / singlesale revenues 301 154  14 355  11 544  40 023  45 955  39 495  (1 000) 451 526  398 471  13 

Other operating revenues 5 139  4 941  3 967  7 298  20 182  1 048  20  419  242  13 452  11 479  99 992  64 764  (70 588) 162 355  149 891  8 

Total operating revenues 594 174  50 017  14 355  22 606  7 298  20 182  1 048  788  1 251  82 184  82 048  101 283  11 479  99 992  64 764  (72 427) 1 081 043  994 638  9 

Operating expenses (548 808)  (49 495) (10 836) (27 223) (7 682) (24 346) (10 169) (5 354) (7 056) (75 897) (72 130)  (117 262) (14 693) (100 490) (90 573) 62 837  (1 099 177) (942 547) 17 

Operating profit (loss) 45 366  522  3 519  (4 617) (384) (4 164) (9 121) (4 566) (5 805) 6 288  9 917  (15 979) (3 214) (498) (25 809) (9 589) (18 134) 52 091  (135) 

Financial items 8 507  1 715  351  (114)  49  (310) (399) (307) (287) 3 218  3 522  (1 320) (66) 1 477  57 666  (62 852) 10 849  1 893  473 

Profit (loss) before tax 53 873  2 237  3 870  (4 731) (335) (4 474 (9 520) (4 873) (6 092) 9 505  13 439  (17 299) (3 280) 979  31 857  (72 442) (7 285) 53 984  (113)

Tax (15 331)  (701) (1 087) 782  1 243  2 657  1 361  1 706  (2 232) (4 053)  1 317  914  (270) (8 960 19 254  (3 400) (17 815) (81)

Minority interests 397  6 131  6 528  955  584 

Profit (loss) for the group 38 542  1 536  2 783  (3 949) (335) (3 231) (6 862) (3 512) (4 386) 7 273  9 387  (15 586) (2 366) 709  22 898  (47 057) (4 157) 37 124  (111)

  

BALANCE ShEET AS OF 
31.12.2008

Fixed assets 38 913  5 484  1 092  6 313  102  6 861  4 771  3 499  832  1 281  1 796  32 355  227  10 208  179 077  (110 471) 182 340  101 705  79 

Current assets 180 397  42 186  8 180  8 509  10 086  8 043  1 379  5 249  1 292  38 987  44 110  29 975  4 588  46 656  227 495  (393 560) 263 572  305 533  (14)

Total assets 219 310  47 671  9 272  14 822  10 189  14 904  6 149  8 748  2 124  40 268  45 905  62 331  4 815  56 863  406 572  (504 031) 445 912  407 238  9 

Group share of equity 43 923  39 794  7 105  2 783  5 976  (212) (6 680) 324  146  9 101  13 388  (20 112) 230  10 834  91 339  (104 811) 93 128  96 131  (3)

Minority interests 12 046  482  12 528  2 705  363 

Non current liabilities 33  4 952  424  87  136  109  20 445  6  169  689  (14 491) 12 560  2 061  509 

Current liabilities 175 387  7 877  2 134  7 087  3 788  15 116  12 829  8 438  1 841  31 059  32 518  49 952  4 578  45 860  314 544  (385 212) 327 697  306 341  7 

Total liabilities 175 387  7 877  2 167  12 039  4 212  15 116  12 829  8 425  1 978  31 168  32 518  70 397  4 585  46 029  315 233  (399 703) 340 257  308 402  10 

Total equity and liabilities 219 310  47 671  9 272  14 822  10 189  14 904  6 149  8 748  2 124  40 268  45 905  62 331  4 815  56 863  406 572  (504 031) 445 912  407 238  9 

Ad *) Operations integrated with DN Nye Medier from 2009

Ad **) Company acquired august 2008

Ad ***) includes Group eliminations

***
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dagens nÆringsliv (dn) has a unique position as Norway’s leading  
business newspaper and the company’s revenues increased in 2008  
by 2% to NOK 594.2 million despite a very difficult fourth quarter. 
Circulation revenue continued to increase in 2008 while advertising  
sales were down on a year-on-year basis. During 2008 DN continued  
to develop its product, strengthening its market position and revenue  
base. The operating margin in 2008 declined by 6 %-points, but  
adjusted for restructuring costs the decline was 4 %-points. The  
cost base has been substantially reduced as a result of the profitability  
initiatives implemented at the end of 2008 and the annual estimated  
cost savings are NOK 50 million.

DAGENS
NÆRINGS

LIV

figures in noK 1000 2008 2007

Advertising revenues  287 881   305 444 

Subscription / single-sale revenues  301 154   270 221 

Other operating revenues  5 139   5 925 

Total operating revenues  594 174   581 590 

Operating expenses  (548 808)  (499 149)

Operating profit (loss)  45 366   82 441 

Financial items  8 507   6 159 

Profit (loss) before tax  53 873   88 600

* Gross figures without eliminations
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Unfortunately, the advertising revenues  
of Dagens Næringsliv again proved to be  
a  reliable  indicator of the developing state  
of the economy. After September 29th, 
 daily advertising bookings fell by 50 %. 
The weaker market for recruitment adver-
tising was the primary source of  falling 
revenues, but also other advertising cate-
gories – classifieds and display advertising 
– showed marked decline. Due to advertis-
ing booked ahead of the crisis, the effect 
on the 2008 accounts was less severe. 
Never theless, the year ended on a weak 
note. 

Since September 29th there has been  
a succession of ever more depressing 
news about the Norwegian and global 
economy, and we are likely to be facing 
the most severe downturn in a very long 
time.

During the first half of October a pro-
gram was initiated to cut cost by NOK 50 
million on an annual basis, in order to 
mitigate the effects of the revenue loss 
on profits. This program was completed 
in January 2009 and a number of budget 
items have been trimmed. The largest 
 savings come from reduced salary cost. 
Through voluntary redundancy packages, 
early pensions, leave for studies, reduced 
working hours, pay cuts for managers and 
ordinary terminations, salary cost has been 
reduced by more than NOK 20 million.

CONTINUED  
CIRCULATION GROWTh
Despite the tough times, Dagens 
Næringsliv’s  circulation continued to 
grow in 2008. The newspaper had an 
 average circulation of 82,775 last year,  

an increase of 1,384 from the year before.  
In the last 5 years circulation has grown 
by a  cumulative 21 per cent. 

The newspaper also experienced signifi-
cant readership demand for information 
about what started out as a financial 
 crisis and quickly morphed into a crisis 
in the economy at large. Thus, the  crisis 
contributed to an increase in over-the-
counter copy sales  towards the end of 
the year, despite a price increase.

The most important reason for the 
 increased  circulation in 2008 was the 
launch of D2 (end-2007). The magazine 
comes as a supplement to the news-  
paper every Friday and has caused  
(and  continues to cause) a considerable  
increase in newspaper sales on Fridays.   

In addition to the good reception from 
readers, advertising sales for D2 have  
also been satisfactory. After one year  
of business, the magazine delivered  
a positive  result in the latter third of  
the year. 

CONTINUED TOUGh TIMES
Lower growth both in Norway and 
 globally is  expected to weigh down  
on Dagens Næringsliv’s revenues  
also in 2009. But with the cost cutting 
measures in place, the company is  
better prepared to navigate rough 
 waters.

 BuSiNESS ArEAS // dagens nÆringsliv

Advertising shock and  
circulation growth. On September 
28th the global  financial crisis in seriousness hit  Europe.  
The  following day Dagens Næringsliv’s  advertising   
revenues fell.
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combined with organic growth in other activities, led to an increase  
in revenues to NOK 117.1 million, 18% higher than in 2007. The revenue  
growth was supported by further development of DN.no and other  
products. However, this also led to higher operating costs in 2008  
and the operating result was  minus NOK 24.6 million. A number of  
improvement initiatives were implemented in Digital & Nordic at the  
end of 2008 and the operating loss includes a restructuring charge.  
in addition, Smartcom’s Swedish operations were closed down in  
2008, weighing on the operating result with minus NOK 9.1 million. 

DIGITAL & 
NORDIC

BuSiNESS ArEAS // digital & nordic

figures in noK 1000 2008 2007

Advertising revenues  54 190   46 465 

Subscription / single-sale revenues  25 899   20 231 

Other operating revenues  36 990   32 412 

Total operating revenues  117 080   99 108 

Operating expenses  (141 696)  (106 130)

Operating profit (loss)  (24 616)  (7 022)

Financial items  697   709 

Profit (loss) before tax  (23 919)  (6 313)

* Gross figures without eliminations

** Newsdesk aquired August 2008, part-year revenues included

• KEY FIGURES*
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35DiGiTAL & NORDiC // dn nYe Medier

Readership and advertising 
growth.

The journalistic focus of DN.no is on the 
principal areas of interest to Norwegian 
businesses or topics that match these 
 target groups' interests at and outside of 
work. For this reason, significant  resources 
have been focused on developing special-
ised sections within IT, energy and 
 finance. In addition, DN.no has a wine 
 section with loyal users, and in 2008 an 
online version of the lifestyle magazine 
D2 was developed. 
 
Because of intensive competition to 
 attract readers within the Norwegian 
business news niche, DN.no has to deliver  
breaking and exclusive news stories not 
yet published by the newspaper Dagens 
Næringsliv or other online services. 
This strategy appears to have been 
 successful with regards to attracting  
new readers both before and after the  
financial crisis hit the world and Norway,  
in that DN.no has a higher growth in 
readership than the competitors for 
both periods (daily/weekly/montly) 

DN Nye Medier has been working over 
time to develop the organisation’s sales 
competence. This, along with increasing 
readership, has contributed to revenue 
growth ahead of the average market 
growth in online advertising. The adver-
tising revenues of DN.no grew by 15 
 percent, whilst the market for online  
advertising grew by 6 percent in 2008, 
according to industry body INMA.

Yet, there is reason to be sober about  
the outlook for 2009, for two principal 
reasons: The business cycle and the current 

business model of the online news industry. 

Low growth in the Norwegian and global 
economy will of course affect DN.no’s  
advertising market, even if the effect   
on adverting revenues in our niche of  
the online market is smaller than for 
 other channels.  

The long term challenge related to the busi-
ness model for online news  portals is that 
it is currently is hard to achieve  satisfactory 
profitability through  advertising funding 
alone for publications with significant 
 editorial production and related cost. This 
view is supported by the fact that several 
large online news portals in 2008 posted 
negative results, despite mainly strong 
 advertising markets.

As long as DN.no maintains its present 
business model, the challenge will be met 
through focus on cost and the development 
of advertising products  focused on the 
efficiency to advertising customers relative 
to other channels. 

The companies DNtv AS and NHST 
Search AS have for cost reasons been merged 
with DN Nye Medier AS. The merged 
 entity has reduced its headcount by five.

//:

DN Nye Medier's principal product 
DN.no experienced readership growth of 52 percent and 
revenue growth of nine percent com pared to 2007. 
Thus, the publication took significant market share both  
in terms of readership and advertising sales.

Figures in NOK 1 000 2008 2007

Total operating revenues  50 017   46 038 

Total operating expenses  (49 495)   (43 055) 

Operating profit (loss)  522   2 983 

Financial items  1 715   1 020 

Profit (loss) before tax  2 237   4 003 

# Key figures 
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36 DiGiTAL & NORDiC // TDN

A year of consolidation
Consolidation in Norway and 
 dicon tinuation of the newly started 
Swedish operation led to a significant 
loss in 2008.

New customers include the Norwe-
gian Parliament, the Government 
Ministries’ Information Centre, 
 Government.no and Yara.The  newly 
established London-office has also 
 experienced an exciting start with 
 customers such as Oracle and  
Financial Times.

The company offers a complete 
 solution for the whole web-tv value 
chain; from consulting services and 
creative concepts, through to content 
and production to delivery and evalu-
ation.
 

At the beginning of the year the com-
pany changed to a new technical plat-
form which both meets the demands 
of the market and improve internal 
processes. The sales department has 
also been reorganised.

Smartcom expects increased compe-
tition and particularly from  inte r- 
na tional companies that would like  
to establish themselves in Norway. 
The financial crisis also offers some 
new opportunities in that our  services 
can help reduce cost related to travel 
and external market communications. 

Smartcom is taking significant  
measures to improve financial perfor-
mance and the operations in Sweden 
were closed down due to lacking 
 profitability.

Smartcom is a market leader  
in Norway with 150 corporate  
customers. After four years of 
 organic growth, 2008 was a year  
of consolidation and completion  
of a number of sizeable development 
projects. 

TDN strenghtened its leading  
position in the Norwegian  market 
for real time  financial information 
in 2008, with  revenues increasing 
by 10 per cent. 

DiGiTAL & NORDiC // sMartcoM

Critical information in  
uncertain times 

The  demand for reliable and timely 
information has  become even greater 
during the  financial crisis. 

The growth took place against the 
backdrop of significant effects of the 
economic downturn in the  market 
that TDN is serving. Several invest-
ment brokers closed down, many 
downsized and along with  reduced 
turnover and withdrawal of foreign 
investments, this led to a significantly 
reduced level of investment. 

Cooperation with other leading 
Nordic and international news 
agencies has contributed to good 
coverage of international and 
 macroeconomic issues. TDN also 
strengthened its own editorial 
 organisation in the second half   
of 2008. 

The increasing cooperation on re-
sult estimates with Swedish SME 
Direkt has improved TDN’s service 
offering. 



37DiGiTAL & NORDiC // europower

Web 2.0 Growth 
NHST acquired a majority stake in 
Newsdesk in August 2008. 

Around 200 new customers are reg-
istering monthly via the web, with a 
conversion rate to paying customers 
of  approximately 20 per cent and a 
retention rate of above 90 per cent. 

Newsdesk is Sweden’s leading on-
line PR/information service focus-
ing on delivering a publishing and 
distribution model for company 
news, mainly press & news releases. 
The main product, newsdesk.se,  
is an online search engine targeting 
journalists, but increasingly also 
utilised by the general public as  
a means of obtaining company  

information. As a result, in 2008 
the service had 500,000 unique 
 visitors per month. 

Over 7000  companies, organisations 
in the public sector and NGOs are 
currently using the services to address 
the media and the markets directly.
They distribute news, press images, 
videos, event information, contact 
information and documents with the 
help of a user friendly and web based 
publishing tool. 

The market is expand ing and 
Newsdesk is  developing its business 
and technology to increase the scope 
of the organisation's services, both 
in Sweden and internationally. 

Newsdesk has doubled its sales three 
years in a row, with a steady growth  
of companies setting up their  
pressroom on www.newsdesk.se.

Progress in power 

Europower’s print titles experi-
enced solid growth in 2008 and 
consolidated their market leading 
position. Paid subscriptions  
increased by 20 per cent and  
advertising income increased  
by 60 per cent. The development  
of the online business went some-
what slower than expected.

In addition, Europower owns 75 
per cent of the Finnish company 
 Intstream OY. Intstream OY 
 increased revenues by 65 per cent 

compared to the previous year, and 
is now established in the Norwegian 
market. 

Measures to improve operating 
per for mance begun to take effect at 
the end of the year, even if further 
adjustments remain.

The strategy is to be the leading 
provider of news and market infor-
mation for the Norwegian power 
industry with select positions out-
side of Norway. 

Europower delivers news, market- 
and analytical products for the  
Norwegian power market and  
publishes the Energi magazine, 
 Europower newspaper, as well as  
the websites www.europower.com  
and www.energi-nett.no. 

DiGiTAL & NORDiC // newsdesK
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GLOBAL continued to report increasing revenues in 2008 with  revenue growth  
of 25% to NOK 277.0 million. The strong growth was delivered through  organic 
growth as well as a result of acquisitions by intraFish in late 2007.  All the businesses 
showed revenue growth.  The operating margin fell by 7% and ended up negative 
for the year as a whole.  included in operating costs are items related to the integration 
of new activities which particularly affected intrafish's operating result, ending  
at minus NOK 16.0 million. recharge was launched in the first quarter of 2009  
and showed no revenue in 2008, but part of the start-up costs is included in the 
segment result.  

GLObAL

figures in noK 1000 2008 2007

Advertising revenues  125 929   95 156 

Subscription / single-sale revenues  125 473   105 688 

Other operating revenues  25 592   20 664 

Total operating revenues  276 994   221 508 

Operating expenses  (284 864)  (212 740)

Operating profit (loss)  (7 870)  8 768 

Financial items  5 377   (4 018)

Profit (loss) before tax  (2 493)  4 750 

* Gross figures without eliminations
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Upstream is a global weekly oil and gas 
newspaper complemented by around-  
the-clock online news coverage. The  
newspaper is read by close to 40 000 
 influential executives across more than  
100 countries. The editorial policy is to 
 relentlessly pursue accurate, exclusive  
and independent news and analysis on  
all facets of the global upstream oil and  
gas industry.

In 2008, revenues increased by NOK 6.4 
million to NOK 82.2 million. The result 
 before taxes was NOK 9.5 million against 
NOK 5.6 million in 2007.

Circulation saw a net increase of 157 
subscribers over the year with growth 
in all regions apart from Europe, where  
a significant drop was recorded in the 
last quarter. 

The number of monthly unique users of 
UpstreamOnline doubled. The new career 
section attracted solid readership, while 
other factors contributing to the positive 
trend include improvements to the online 
newspaper format and content and the 
 introduction of a new archive search engine.

Accumulated advertising revenues  
increased by 16 per cent measured in 
NOK. Upstream grew its staff numbers  
in 2008 by five, related primarily to  
additional personnel at UpstreamOnline, 
both at the editorial and on the commer-
cial side. 

In the coming years Upstream will offer 
improved and expanded information 

services, and become best-in-class also 
within electronic media.

At the end of 2008 the global oil and gas 
industry was significantly affected both  
by the dramatic falls in the oil price and 
the financial crisis limiting access to capital 
for parts of the industry. 

This had somewhat contradictory conse-
quences for Upstream. Editorially, the 
 demand for quality information amidst  
the turmoil is greater than ever. Many 
oil companies and contractors reassess 
ongoing plans and projects, giving  
Upstream’s editorial team interesting 
stories to report on. Commercially, some 
clients are delaying decisions on advertising 
campaigns and some companies with 
 multiple subscriptions have reduced their 
accounts. 

However, the market turmoil also provides 
an opportunity for Upstream to strengthen 
its position in the market relative to com-
petitors with a less robust market position.

Continued growth in tight-
ening market.  
reducing costs, but circulation is stable and Upstream 
is continuously improving information services.

The oil and gas business is 

GLOBAL // UPSTREAM

Figures in NOK 1000 2008 2007

Advertising revenues  41 743   37 486 

Subscription / singlesale 

revenues  40 023   38 196 

Other operating revenues  419   121 

Total operating revenues  82 184   75 803 

Total operating expenses  (75 897)   (68 762) 

Operating profit (loss)  6 288   7 042 

Financial items  3 218   (1 425)

Profit (loss) before tax  9 505   5 617 

# Key figures 
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Solidified market leader 
position.
 

The company now employs 60 people, and 
has offices in major shipping hubs world-
wide. The product portfolio consists of the 
weekly newspaper; a live internet news site 
updated 24/5; TradeWinds Jobs, a fully 
 developed maritime recruitment site; a  daily 
Headlines e-newsletter; a comprehensive 
 finance section; LNG Unlimited; as well  
as a series of TradeWinds conferences on 
the hottest topics in the shipping world. 

In 2008, revenues increased by NOK 4.1 
million to NOK 82.0 million. The result 
 before taxes was NOK 13.4 million against 
NOK 3.5 million in 2007.

The fully paid circulation for TradeWinds 
continued to rise in 2008 and consolidated 
the global market leading position, even in 
face of an increasingly diversified global 
market for news. An improved market 
 position also means TradeWinds has been 
able to increase its advertising revenues, 
both for the newspaper and online.

The continued changes in traditional 
shipping markets and the expectation for 
breaking news online have led TradeWinds 
to further develop its internet portfolio. 
TradeWinds.no, the live news site, under-
went a thorough revamp and re-launched 
in the summer with division into specific 
content sections. 

The NHST Events conference business 
continued its growth in 2008 and organ-
ised a number of high-profile industry 
events around the world.

For global shipping, 2008 was a story of 
summer highs and winter lows. The crash 

of financial markets and decline in global 
economies as supply outstripped demand 
hit the shipping market hard in the latter 
part of the year. Bulk owners who were 
earning charter rates of over $250,000 per 
day in July struggled to achieve more than 
$3000 per day in late November. 

For TradeWinds, the first signs of cost  
control measures in the industry in late 
2008 were the freezing of recruitment 
budgets, meaning an instant drop in  
classified revenues. But, before this the 
market was buoyant; industry turnover 
and profits were at an all time high and 
spending on advertising as well as the need 
for quality market information undeterred. 
This enabled TradeWinds to divert funding 
toward product development and new 
 revenue streams. Now, faced with a far 
gloomier economic outlook, focus will 
be on leveraging and strengthen the 
 market leading position with readers  
and advertisers. 

posisition as the leading news provider in the world-
wide shipping markets. 

In 2008 TradeWinds reinforced the

Figures in NOK 1000 2008 2007

Advertising revenues  35 851   33 209 

Subscription /  

singlesale revenues  45 955   44 364 

Other operating revenues  242   352 

Total operating revenues  82 048   77 925 

Total operating expenses  (72 130)   (72 667) 

Operating profit (loss)  9 917   5 258 

Financial items  3 522   (1 775)

Profit (loss) before tax  13 439   3 483 

# Key figures 
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IntraFish Media is the world’s leading  
provider of relevant, timely business news 
and information for global seafood profes-
sionals – buyers and suppliers – through a 
portfolio of print and online publications. 
IntraFish operates in local and global 
 markets with main offices in London and 
Norway, and branches in Seattle, Puerto 
Varas (Chile) and Singapore.

In 2008, revenues increased by NOK 47.6 
million to NOK 101.3 million. The result  
before taxes was a loss of NOK 17.3 million 
against a loss of NOK 2.2 million in 2007.

The acquisition and merger in the previ-
ous year were the main reasons for the 
near-doubling in size, whilst the significant 
integration effort in 2008 was the main 
reason for the operating loss for the year.

The financial turmoil towards the end of 
the year also affected the international sea-
food market, but in a more limited fashion 
than many other industry sectors. Overall 
demand for seafood kept up well, but the 
regional impact of the crisis e.g. in Iceland 
was significant and inevitably will affect 
our advertisers and readers.

2008 was a year of integration and co-
ordination for IntraFish following the 
 acquisition from Informa Group in the 
UK and the merger of Fiskaren with the 
other  Norwegian paper Fiskeribladet.  
A redesigned Fiskeribladet Fiskaren was 
launched and a substantial effort under-
taken to integrate the two organisations. 
The sales and editorial organisations 
were redesigned. 

New editors have been appointed and a 
new integrated commercial team with 
 directors, sales managers and reps is  
in place. 

The monthly IntraFish Newspaper was 
merged with Seafood International and 
completely redesigned. Seafood Processor 
has been adapted to a quarterly more in 
line with its market. The yearly Fishing 
Vessels of Britain and Ireland was re-
designed to a paperback format and a  
CD  edition was added. The Seafood Inter-
national Directory has been put online. The 
web sites have been strengthened through-
out the year and experienced record traffic.

As a result of all these changes the 
 company has been left in a leaner state, 
and all  employees are now pulling in the 
same  direction, laying the basis for future 
reduced cost and higher productivity. 

The main focus for 2009 will be on 
 profitability and realizing synergies and 
efficiencies from the 2008 reorganisation. 

A year of integration.  
 IntraFish’ publications had 28 000 paying subscribers, 
a total circulation of 53 000 and reached up to 150 000 
readers around the globe. No other seafood media is close 
to those numbers.

In 2008 

Figures in NOK 1 000 2008 2007

Advertising revenues  48 335   24 461 

Subscription /  

singlesale revenues  39 495   23 128 

Press subsidiaries  6 842   5 049 

Other operating revenues  6 610   996 

Total operating revenues  101 282   53 634 

Total operating expenses  (117 262)   (55 175) 

Operating profit (loss)  (15 980)  (1 541)

Financial items  (1 320)  (662)

Profit (loss) before tax  (17 300)  (2 203)
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The renewable initiative.
 The NHST Media Group decided to create Recharge in 
the summer of 2008 and the first edition went live in 
January 2009.

"Recharge will close a gap in the market for a 
 quality news outlet serving the information needs 
of renewable energy professionals"

The goal behind Recharge has been to 
create a global premium multi-channel 
news product for renewable energy  
business professionals and policy 
 makers, consisting of a weekly news-
paper and a continuously updated  
online news service. 

In launching Recharge, NHST has made 
extensive use of the existing international 
backbone of the Group, in particular the 
Upstream organisation. In fact, Editor-in-
Chief Chris Hopson came from the posi-
tion as Features Editor at Upstream.

“Recharge's focus is on covering the 
whole renewable industry and the whole 

world, rather than just one sector or one 
country”, says Chris Hopson.

Recharge will relentlessly pursue accu-
rate, exclusive and independent news  
in every corner of the globe. The news 
publication will cover business activity, 
finance, innovation, M&A and policy  
developments across the renewable  
energy sectors, including wind; solar; 
wave, tidal and hydro, geothermal and 
 biofuels.

The Recharge organization of about 30 
employees has a network of 10 reporters 
located around the world. All are  experienced 
journalists, having extensive knowledge 
about the renewable  energy sector. They 
will provide the  content to the weekly 
newspaper and supply the online news 
service with  daily updates. Recharge is  
headquartered in London and Oslo, with 
other offices dotted around the globe.

With Recharge, NHST takes its well- 
tested global industry news formula  
of editorial integrity and hard-hitting 
news to the world’s most dynamic 
 industry sector, to attract a new audience 
of renewable energy business executives 
and policy makers.

Recharge will close a gap in the market 
for a quality news outlet serving the 
 information needs of renewable energy 
professionals. For an industry that is 
growing in spite of the current financial 
troubles, Recharge is based on the idea 
that this rapidly maturing sector needs 
the support of a quality source of intelli-
gence, both to indentify new business 
opportunities and master the challenges 
ahead.



NAuThICAL
ChARTS

 • REVENUES BY GEOGRAPhY

*

BuSiNESS ArEAS // nautical cHarts

Digital & Nordic Nautical Charts

Dagens 
Næringsliv

Global
publications

 • Group - revenues by segment

Other operating revenues 1 %

Advertising
revenues 48 %

Subscription/single 
copy sales revenues 

51 %

DN Nye Medier
43 %

Europower 
(Group) 19 %

Smartcom 
(Group) 18 %

Newsdesk ** 6 % Others 2 %

TDN 12 %

Intrafish Media 
(Group) 36 %

Upstream 30 %

Tradewinds
30 % 

Others 4 %

Norway 88 %

Singapore 12 % 
figures in noK 1000 2008 2007

Operating revenues  99 992   99 813 

Operating expenses  (100 490)  (96 709)

Operating profit (loss)  (498)  3 104 

Financial items  1 477   101 

Profit (loss) before tax  979   3 205 

* Gross figures without eliminations  

• KEY FIGURES*

ThE BUSINESS AREA NAUTICAL 
ChARTS is the company Nautisk  Forlag. 
Nautisk Forlag is a supplier of charts 
and maritime publications to the mari-
time industry in Norway and abroad.  
The company consolidated its position 
as the leading supplier of maritime 
charts in the Nordic region in 2008 
and further strengthened its position 
as one of the world’s largest distribu-
tor through its growth in Singapore 
and South-East Asia.

in recent years, Nautisk Forlag has put 
emphasis on digital products in addition 
to the more traditional paper based 
products. The company has thus prepared 
for the transition from paper based charts 
to electronic distribution of charts. An 
onboard navigation administration service 

system, Neptune, was launched in May 
2008. Neptune was a  success and is 
now used by over 160 ships. 

Nautical Charts had revenues of NOK 
100,0 million in 2008, in line with 2007. 
The major chart producer for Nautisk 
Forlag, British Admiralty, was unable 
to deliver the forecasted number of 
new charts through the fall of 2008. 
This is a principal reasons why the 
 revenue growth has leveled off in 2008 
and contributed to the weaker results.  
The operating margin fell by 4.5 %-points 
and ended at minus NOK 0.5 million. The 
operating expenses were also affected by 
restructuring costs as well as expenses 
related to the implementation of a new 
inventory tracking system.



44 NHST MEDiA GROUP // addresses

nHst Media group

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
www.nhst.no

 dagens nÆringsliv

dagens nÆringsliv

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
annonse@dn.no
kundeservice@dn.no
redaksjonen@dn.no
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
Fax adm. +47 22 00 10 10 
Fax editorial +47 22 00 11 10
Fax subscription +47 22 00 10 60
Fax advertising +47 22 00 10 70
www.avis.dn.no

dn brancH offices
bergen
Bontelabo 2
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel editorial +47 55 33 62 10
Fax editorial +47 55 31 65 92

brussel
Clos rivoli 10
1410 Waterloo, Belgium
Tel editorial +32 473 674 566 

Kristiansand
Tordenskioldsgate 9
N-4612 Kristiansand, Norway
Tel editorial +47 38 07 13 00
Fax editorial +47 38 07 08 30

stavanger
ryfylkegt. 13, PO Box 1538
N-4014 Stavanger, Norway
Tel editorial +47 51 51 10 10
Fax editorial +47 51 85 81 10

tromsø
Fredrik Langesgt 13
PO Box 773
N-9258 Tromsø, Norway
Tel editorial +47 77 66 56 65

trondheim
Fjordgata 82 
N-7010 Trondheim, Norway
Tel editorial +47 73 80 89 20
Fax editorial +47 73 80 89 02

 digital & nordic

dn nYe Medier

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 24 10 14 00
Fax editorial +47 22 00 12 33
Fax sales +47 24 10 14 10
dn.no@dn.no
www.dn.no

tdn nYHetsbYrÅ

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
Tel editorial +47 22 00 11 55
Fax editorial +47 22 00 11 56
Tel sales +47 22 00 12 06
Fax sales +47 22 00 10 83
finans@tdn.no
marked@tdn.no
www.tdn.no

newsdesK

Bondegatan 21
SE-116 33 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel +46 8 644 89 50
www.newsdesk.se 

sMartcoM

Christian Krohgs gate 16
Postbox 1182, Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 23 00 81 50
Fax +47 22 23 42 35
post@smartcom.no
www.smartcom.no

europower

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
Tel editorial +47 22 00 12 72
Fax editorial +47 22 00 12 75
Tel sales +47 22 00 11 50
Fax sales +47 22 00 10 83
marked@europower.no
www.europower.com

intstream oY
Tekniikantie 12 02150 Espoo, Finland
Tel +358 9 25173518
Fax +358 9 25173519
info@intstream.com

 global

tradewinds

oslo
Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182 Sentrum
0107 Oslo, Norway 
Tel +47 22 00 12 00
Fax +47 22 00 12 10 

london
international Press Centre, 
76 Shoe Lane, London EC4A 3JB. uK 
Tel +44 20 7842 2700
Fax +44 20 7842 2705

tradewinds brancH offices
athens
TradeWinds AS
Michalakopoulou 29  
Gr 115 28 Athens, Greece 
Tel + 30 210 724 5541
Fax + 30 210 724 9508

bergen
Bontelabo 2,  
5003 Bergen, Norway 
Tel + 47 55 30 22 38
Fax + 47 55 30 22 39

dubai
NHST Middle East
Office #2807 A - 28th floor
Business Central Towers
Dubai Media City
PO Box 191649 - Dubai
u.A.E.
Tel +971 4 3642059 
Fax +971 4 3697363

genova
Via Lungo Entella 91 
16043 Chiavari, italy 
Tel + 39 0185 362331
Fax + 39 02700 561846

new dehli
World Trade Center
Flat no 429, Babar road
New Delhi 01, india
Tel +91 11 405 000 00
Fax +91 11 405 000 01

shanghai
Shanghai Bund no 12, room 327
12 Zhong Shan Dong Yi road
Shanghai 200002, China 
Tel +86 21 6329 6301
Fax +86 21 6329 6307
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singapore
20 upper Circular road
The riverwalk 04-04 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 6557 0555
Fax +65 6557 0444

stamford
Marine Building East 
70 Seaview Avenue, Stamford 
CT 06902, uSA 
Tel +1 203 324 2994
Fax +1 203 324 3368

nHst events

international Press Centre, 4th Floor
76 Shoe Lane
London EC4A 3JB, uK
Tel +44 20  7842 2727
Fax +44 20 7842 2705
www.nhstevents.com

upstreaM

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway

Tel editorial/sales +47 22 00 13 00
Fax editorial +47 22 00 13 05
Fax sales +47 22 00 13 10
sales@upstreamonline.com
editorial@upstream.com
www.upstreamonline.com

upstreaM brancH offices
london
international Press Centre, 4th floor
76 Shoe Lane, 
London EC4A 3JB, uK
Tel editorial +44 20 7842 2730
Fax editorial +44 20 7842 2735

beirut
Level 7, Block 14
Secteur 13, rue 59
Av St Therese, Al-Hadath
Beirut, Libanon 
Tel editorial +96 1546 5103

calgary
3307B-15 Street SW
Calgary, Alberta
T2T 4A2
Canada
Tel +1 403 455 0405

dubai
PO Box 191649, Office 2807 A
Business Central Towers 
Dubai Media City, Dubai (uAE)
Tel (+971) 4 3642058
Fax (+971) 4 3697364

ghana
Silicon House
PO BOX 0641
Ouu Accra, Ghana
Tel editorial +233 212 38 326

Houston
5151 San Felipe, Suite 1440
Houston, TX 77056, uSA
Tel editorial +1 713 626 3113
Fax editorial +1 713 626 8134
Tel sales +1 713 626 3113
Fax sales +1 713 626 8125

Moscow
Tel editorial +7 926 203 2233
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new dehli
World Trade Center
Flat no 429
Babar road
New Delhi 01, india
Tel +91 11 405 000 00
Fax +91 11 405 000 01

rio de Janeiro
rua da Assembleia 93 - Sala 1602
Centro, rio de Janeiro, rJ-20.011-001
Brazil

singapore
20 upper Circular road
The riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel editorial +65 6557 0652/0653
Fax editorial +65 6557 0900
Tel sales +65 6557 0600
Fax sales +65 6557 0900

stavanger
Domkirkeplassen 2
PO Box 419
N-4002 Stavanger, Norway
Tel sales +47 51 85 91 50
Fax sales +47 51 85 91 60

wellington
PO Box 7269, Wellington
New Zealand
Tel editorial +64 4976 9672

intrafisH Media

bergen
Bontelabo 2
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel editorial +47 55 30 22 30
Fax editorial +47 55 21 33 01
Tel sales +47 55 21 33 00
Fax sales +47 55 21 33 40
sales@intrafish.com
info@intrafish.com
redaksjonenintrafish@if.no
www.intrafish.com

london
Eldon House
2 Eldon Street
London EC2M 7LS, uK
Tel +44 (0)20 7650 1002
Fax +44 (0)20 7650 1050

intrafisH Media brancH offices
bodø
Storgata 27/29
PO Box 1164
N-8006 Bodø, Norway
Tel +47 75 54 49 00
Fax +47 75 54 49 10

puerto varas
Walker Marines 430, Off. 32
Puerto Varas, region X, Chile
Tel editorial +56 6523 3217
Tel sales +56 6523 3134
Fax +56 6523 3209

seattle
701 Dexter Ave N ste 410
Seattle, WA 98109 uSA
Tel +1 206 282 3474
Fax +1 206 282 3470

singapore
20 upper Circular road
The riverwalk 04-04
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0047
Fax +65 6557 0444

fiskeribladetfiskaren
Bontelabo 2
N-5003 Bergen, Norway
Tel +47 55 21 33 00
Fax +47 55 21 33 01
redaksjonen@fiskaren.no
annonse@fiskaren.no
www.fiskaren.no

FF avd. Harstad
Pb 103
9481 Harstad
Tel 77 05 90 00

recHarge

oslo
Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182 Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo, Norway
Tel +47 22 00 17 00
Fax +47 24 10 17 10 

london 
Eldon House
2 Eldon Street
London EC2M 7LS, uK
Tel +44 20 7650 1060 
Fax +44 20 7650 1050 

recHarge brancH offices
singapore 
The riverwalk #04-04  
20 upper Circular road, 
Singapore 058416 
Tel +65 6557 0666 
Fax +65 6557 0222 

stavanger 
Domkirkeplassen 2, 2nd floor  
PO Box 419  
NO-4001 Stavanger, Norway 
Tel +47 51 93 87 80
Fax +47 51 93 87 81 

Houston
5151 San Felipe, Suite 1440 
Houston TX 77056, uSA 
Tel +1 713 693 5500
Fax +1 713 693 5501 

rio de Janeiro
rua do russel 300 - 601 Gloria 
rJ-22210-010 rio de Janeiro Brazil 
Tel +55 21 2285 9217 
Fax +55 21 2265 5062 

 nautical cHarts

nautisK forlag

Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 68 Sentrum 
N-0101 Oslo, Norway

Tel +47 22 00 85 00
Fax +47 22 00 85 01
sales@nautisk.no
www.nautisk.com

nf brancH offices
singapore
20 upper Circular road
#B1-22 The riverwalk
Singapore 058416
Tel +65 6557 0170
Fax +65 6557 0270
singapore@nautisk.no



Christian Krohgs gate 16
PO Box 1182, Sentrum
N-0107 Norway
Tel +47 22 00 10 00
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